

# BACKUP FOR #1POL FOR PUBLIC AGENDA OF OCTOBER 14, 2019 (First Reading)

**1POL THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED**, that the Fort Lee Board of Education, upon recommendation of the Superintendent, approves the first reading of the following policy/regulation updates listed below: [Click here for 2019-10-14 #1POL Back-up](#)

<b>Policy/Reg No.</b>	<b>Topic</b>
P 3159	Teaching Staff Member/School District Reporting Responsibilities (M) (Revised)
P & R 3218	Use, Possession, or Distribution of Substances (M) (Revised)
P & R 4218	Use, Possession, or Distribution of Substances (M) (Revised)
P 4219	Commercial Driver's License Controlled Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M) (Revised)
P 5517	School District Issued Student Identification Cards (Revised)
P & R 6112	Reimbursement of Federal and Other Grant Expenditures (M) (Revised)
P & R 7440	School District Security (M) (Revised)
P 8600	Student Transportation (M) (Revised)
R 8600	Student Transportation (Revised)
P 8630	Bus Driver/Bus Aide Responsibility (M) (Revised)
R 8630	Emergency School Bus Procedures (M) (Revised)
P 8670	Transportation of Special Needs Students (M) (Revised)
P 9210	Parent Organizations (Revised)
P 9400	Media Relations (Revised)
P 8611	Subscription Busing

## TEACHING STAFF MEMBER/SCHOOL DISTRICT REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 186, 209 and 218]

### 3159 TEACHING STAFF MEMBER/SCHOOL DISTRICT REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

**The Board of Education and** ~~All~~ certificate holders shall **adhere to the reporting requirements outlined in N.J.A.C. 6A:9B-4.3 and N.J.S.A. 18A:16-1.3.** ~~their arrest or indictment for any crime or offense to the Superintendent of Schools within fourteen calendar days of the arrest or indictment in accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:9B-4.3.~~ For the purposes of this ~~p~~Policy, “certificate holders” shall include all individuals who hold certificates, credentials, certificates of eligibility (CEs), and certificates of eligibility with advance standing (CEASs) issued by the **New Jersey State Board of Examiners.** For purposes of this Policy, the term “certificate” shall include all standard, emergency and provisional certificates, all credentials, and all CEAs and CEASs issued by the **New Jersey State Board of Examiners.**

**All certificate holders shall report an arrest or indictment for any crime or offense to the Superintendent within fourteen calendar days of their arrest or indictment in accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:9B-4.3.** The report submitted to the Superintendent shall include the date of arrest or indictment and charge(s) lodged against the certificate holder. Such certificate holders shall also report to the Superintendent the disposition of any charge within seven calendar days of the disposition. Failure to comply with these reporting requirements may be deemed “just cause” for revocation or suspension of certification pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:9B-4.4. The school district shall make these reporting requirements known to all new employees upon initial employment and to all employees on an annual basis.

The Superintendent ~~of Schools~~ shall notify the New Jersey State Board of Examiners when:

1. Tenured teaching staff members who are accused of criminal offenses or unbecoming conduct resign or retire from their positions;
2. Nontenured teaching staff members, including substitute teachers, who are accused of criminal offenses or unbecoming conduct resign, retire, or are removed from their positions;



## TEACHING STAFF MEMBER/SCHOOL DISTRICT REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

3. A certificate holder fails to maintain any license, certificate, or authorization that is mandated pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:9B for the holder to serve in a position;
4. The Superintendent of Schools becomes aware that a certificate holder has been convicted of a crime or criminal offense while in the district's employ; or
5. The Superintendent has received a report from the Department of Children and Families substantiating allegations of abuse or neglect, or establishing "concerns" regarding a certificated teaching staff member.

**The school district shall cooperate with the New Jersey State Board of Examiners in any proceeding arising from an order to show cause issued by the New Jersey State Board of Examiners and based on information about the certificate holder that the school district provided.** ~~In the event the New Jersey State Board of Examiners issues an order to show cause based on the information that the school district provided about the certificate holder, it shall be the responsibility of the school district to cooperate with the Board of Examiners in any proceeding arising from the order to show cause.~~

The Superintendent of Schools shall also notify the New Jersey State Board of Examiners, in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:16-1.3, whenever a nontenured, certificated employee is dismissed prior to the end of the school year for just cause as a result of misconduct in office. This notification requirement shall not apply in instances where the employee's contract is not renewed. The Superintendent of Schools will comply with the additional notice requirements to the New Jersey State Board of Examiners in the event it is subsequently determined by a disciplinary grievance arbitration, a court, or an administrative tribunal of competent jurisdiction that the basis for the dismissal did not constitute misconduct in office. In addition, whenever the Superintendent of Schools notifies the New Jersey State Board of Examiners of an employee's dismissal for reasons of misconduct in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:16-1.3, the employee shall receive a simultaneous copy of the notifying correspondence.

**In the event the Board of Education determines, pursuant to a tenure charge finding under N.J.S.A. 18A:6-10 or a disorderly person conviction under N.J.S.A. 9:6-8.14, that a teaching staff member has failed to report an allegation of child abuse in accordance with State law or regulations, the Board shall submit a report to the New Jersey State Board of Examiners that**



## TEACHING STAFF MEMBER/SCHOOL DISTRICT REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

**outlines its findings. The New Jersey State Board of Examiners shall review the certification of the teaching staff member to determine if the teaching staff member's failure to report warrants the revocation or suspension of his/her certificate. In accordance with N.J.S.A. 9:6-8.14, any person failing to report an act of child abuse, having reasonable cause to believe that an act of child abuse has been committed, may be deemed a disorderly person.**

N.J.S.A. 9:6-8.14; 18A:6-10; 18A:6-38.5; 18A:16-1.3  
N.J.A.C. 6A:9B-4.3; 6A:9B-4.4

Adopted: 23 August 2010  
Revised: 22 August 2016  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019

DRAFT



## Use, Possession, or Distribution of Substances Abuse

[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 125, 133, 205 and 218]

### 3218 USE, POSSESSION, OR DISTRIBUTION OF SUBSTANCES ABUSE

The Board of Education recognizes a teaching staff member who reports to work under the influence of a ~~substance drugs or alcohol~~ poses a significant threat to their health, safety, and welfare and the health, safety, and welfare of others, including students and other staff members. The Board strongly advises any teaching staff member that has a dependency on a substance as defined in this Policy to seek appropriate treatment. The Board has an obligation and the right to maintain a safe and healthy work environment and adopts this Policy as an important component toward maintaining a safe environment in the school district. ~~A teaching staff member is prohibited from possession, use, distribution, or being under the influence of any substance during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member has been assigned job responsibilities.~~

For the purposes of this Policy, “substance” or “substances” **as defined in N.J.S.A. 18A:40A-9 and N.J.A.C. 6A:16-4.1(a)** means alcoholic beverages;; any controlled dangerous substances, including anabolic steroids as defined in N.J.S.A. 24:21-2 and N.J.S.A. 2C:35-2;; ~~or~~ any chemical or chemical compound which releases vapors or fumes causing a condition of intoxication, inebriation, excitement, stupefaction, or dulling of the brain or nervous system, including, but not limited to, glue containing a solvent having the property of releasing toxic vapors or fumes as defined in N.J.S.A. 2C:35-10.4;; and over-the-counter and prescription medications that are improperly used to cause intoxication, inebriation, excitement, stupefaction, or dulling of the brain or nervous system.

~~Any teaching staff member who reports to work or attends a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member has assigned job responsibilities under the influence of or in possession of any substance will be subject to appropriate discipline, which may include termination of a non-tenured teaching staff member or the filing of tenure charges for a tenured teaching staff member in accordance with law.~~

A teaching staff member shall be required to submit to an immediate medical examination to include a substance test if the Principal or designee has reasonable suspicion to believe a teaching staff member is under the influence of a substance during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff



## Use, Possession, or Distribution of Substances Abuse

member has been assigned job responsibilities. Refusal ~~by~~ of a teaching staff member to consent to the medical examination **including a** ~~and~~ substance test will be ~~deemed determined to be~~ a positive test result for substances. **In the event the results of the medical examination and substance test are not provided to the Superintendent, within twenty-four hours or as soon as the test results are available, it will be deemed a positive test result for substances and the teaching staff member shall be subject to appropriate discipline. Any required medical examination and testing shall be paid for by the Board.**

~~In the event a teaching staff member's medical examination and substance test results are negative for a substance, any documents or records pertaining to the requirement for the examination and test and results will not be maintained by the school district. Any required examination and testing shall be paid for by the Board. The teaching staff member will be afforded the opportunity to have any test results confirmed using acceptable test confirmation practices. This confirming test shall be paid for by the teaching staff member.~~

**In the event the Board physician determines the teaching staff member was under the influence of a substance, the determination shall be reported to the Superintendent and the teaching staff member will be subject to appropriate discipline. Appropriate discipline may include, but not be limited to, withholding an increment, terminating a non-tenured teaching staff member, and/or filing tenure charges for a tenured teaching staff member in accordance with law. The teaching staff member will be afforded the opportunity to have positive test results confirmed using acceptable confirmation test practices. This confirmation test shall be paid for by the teaching staff member.**

**In the event a teaching staff member's medical examination and substance test results are negative for a substance or if the Board physician determines the teaching staff member was not under the influence of a substance, the results or determination shall be reported to the Superintendent and the teaching staff member shall be returned to their position unless the Superintendent has a reason the teaching staff member should not be returned to their position.**

In accordance with the requirements of N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a), any ~~teaching~~ staff member who, in the course of their employment, has reason to believe a ~~school~~ staff member has unlawfully possessed or in any way been involved in the distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids, or



## Use, Possession, or Distribution of Substances Abuse

drug paraphernalia, shall report the matter as soon as possible to the Principal, or in the absence of the Principal, ~~the Principal's designee to the staff member~~ responsible at the time of the alleged violation. Either the Principal or ~~designee the staff member~~ shall notify the Superintendent of Schools who shall notify, as soon as possible, the County Prosecutor or other law enforcement official designated by the County Prosecutor to receive such information. The Superintendent or designee shall provide to the County Prosecutor or designee all known information concerning the matter, including the identity of the staff member involved.

In accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a)3, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose the identity of a ~~teaching~~ staff member who has voluntarily sought and participated in an appropriate treatment or counseling program for an alcohol or drug abuse problem, provided the ~~teaching~~ staff member is not reasonably believed to be involved or implicated in drug-distribution activities. An admission by a ~~teaching~~ staff member in response to questioning initiated by the Principal or designee or following the discovery by the Principal or designee of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids, or drug paraphernalia, shall not constitute a voluntary, self-initiated request for counseling and treatment.

**A staff member who unlawfully possessed or in any way has been involved in the distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids or drug paraphernalia, pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3, shall be subject to appropriate discipline which may include, but not be limited to, termination of a non-tenured teaching staff member or the filing of tenure charges for a tenured teaching staff member in accordance with law.**

42 CFR Part 2

N.J.S.A. 18A:16-3; 18A:40A-9

N.J.A.C. 6A:16-4.1; 6A:16-6.3; 6A:16-6.5 ~~6A:32-6.3~~

Adopted: 23 August 2010

DRAFT: 14 October 2019



[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 125, 133, 205 and 218]

R 3218 USE, POSSESSION, OR DISTRIBUTION OF SUBSTANCES ABUSE

A. Definition

1. **“Board physician” means a physician currently licensed by the New Jersey Board of Medical Examiners in medicine or osteopathy and appointed by the Board of Education.**
24. “Principal or designee” means the teaching staff member’s Principal or a staff member designated by the Principal to be responsible at the time of the alleged violation or the teaching staff member’s supervisor or a staff member designated by the teaching staff member’s supervisor to be responsible at the time of the alleged violation.
32. “Substance” or “substances” **as defined in N.J.S.A. 18A:40A-9 and N.J.A.C. 6A:16-4.1(a)** means alcoholic beverages; any controlled dangerous substances, including anabolic steroids as defined in N.J.S.A. 24:21-2 and N.J.S.A. 2C:35-2; ~~or~~ any chemical or chemical compound which releases vapors or fumes causing a condition of intoxication, inebriation, excitement, stupefaction, or dulling of the brain or nervous system, including, but not limited to, glue containing a solvent having the property of releasing toxic vapors or fumes as defined in N.J.S.A. 2C:35-10.4; and over-the-counter and prescription medications that are improperly used to cause intoxication, inebriation, excitement, stupefaction, or dulling of the brain or nervous system.
43. “Substance test” means a test conducted by a **Board-approved** ~~State licensed clinical~~ laboratory using accepted substance use practices, accepted chain of custody procedures, and testing methodology recommended by the laboratory instrument’s manufacturer.
54. “Under the influence” means the presence of a substance as defined in Policy 3218 and this Regulation as confirmed in a medical examination and substance test.





**B. Procedures to be Followed When a Teaching Staff Member has Unlawfully Possessed or has been Involved in the Distribution of a Controlled Dangerous Substance is Suspected to be Under the Influence of a Substance**

1. Subject to N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.5, any staff member who, in the course of their employment, has reason to believe a staff member has unlawfully possessed or in any way been involved in the distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids, or drug paraphernalia, shall report the matter as soon as possible to the Principal or designee in accordance with the provisions of Policy 3218 and N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a).

a. In accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a)1, upon receiving a report, the Principal or designee shall notify the Superintendent who shall notify, as soon as possible, the County Prosecutor or other law enforcement official designated by the County Prosecutor to receive such information.

b. In accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a)2, the Superintendent or designee shall provide to the County Prosecutor or designee all known information concerning the matter including the identity of the staff member involved.

c. A staff member who unlawfully possessed or in any way has been involved in the distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids, or drug paraphernalia, shall be subject to appropriate discipline, which may include, but not be limited to, termination of a non-tenured teaching staff member or the filing of tenure charges for a tenured teaching staff member in accordance with law.

**C. Procedures to be Followed When a Teaching Staff Member is Suspected to be Under the Influence of a Substance**

1. The following procedures shall be used when a teaching staff member is suspected of being under the influence of a substance



during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member has been assigned job responsibilities.

- a. The Principal or designee, upon receiving a report or information a teaching staff member may be under the influence of a substance during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member has been assigned job responsibilities will:
  - (1) Immediately notify the Superintendent of Schools;
  - (2) Immediately meet with the teaching staff member;
    - (a) The Principal or designee may include another staff member in this meeting; and
    - (b) The teaching staff member suspected of being under the influence may include another staff member or a representative of their choice in this meeting.
- b. The Principal or designee shall present to the teaching staff member the report or information supporting the suspicion the teaching staff member may be under the influence of a substance.
- c. The teaching staff member shall be provided an opportunity to respond to the report or information presented by the Principal or designee.
- d. In the event the Principal or designee believes the teaching staff member may be under the influence of a substance after meeting with the teaching staff member, the Principal or designee will arrange for an immediate medical examination **by the Board physician. The medical examination shall to include a substance test administered by the Board physician or a Board-approved laboratory.**
- e. The teaching staff member shall be transported to the examination and testing location by means of transportation



approved by the Superintendent or designee and shall be accompanied by the Principal or designee.

- f. The teaching staff member, prior to the medical examination and substance test, will be informed by the **Board** physician or ~~the physician's~~ designee on the type of testing to be completed and the substances that will be tested.
  - g. The teaching staff member may, prior to being examined ~~and~~ tested, disclose to the **Board** physician **or designee** any prescription medicine, over-the-counter medicine or supplements, or any other reason why the teaching staff member's test results may be positive.
  - h. **Refusal by a** ~~A~~ teaching staff member's refusal to **consent to the medical examination which includes a substance test** ~~be examined or tested in accordance with the provisions of Policy 3218 and this Regulation~~ will be deemed as a positive **test result** test for substances.
2. The **results of the** medical examination and substance test shall be used by the **Board** physician to determine if the teaching staff member is under the influence of any substance as defined in Policy 3218 and this Regulation. The substance test procedures will provide for a **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test using acceptable confirmation test procedures.
    - a. **Any specimen determined by the Board physician or Board-approved laboratory to have been adulterated by the teaching staff member will be deemed a positive test result for substances.**
  3. The ~~physician shall receive the~~ results of the substance test **shall be provided to the Superintendent and Board physician** within twenty-four hours of the test being administered ~~or~~ ~~– If the results of the substance test are not available within twenty four hours, the~~



~~physician shall report the results to the Superintendent and the teaching staff member as soon as the test results are available. The Superintendent shall provide the teaching staff member with these results.~~

a. **In the event the results of the medical examination and substance test are not provided to the Superintendent, it will be deemed a positive test result for substances.**

4. If the **Board** physician determines, based upon the medical examination and the results of the substance test, that the teaching staff member was not under the influence of a substance during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member was assigned job responsibilities, ~~the physician will notify the Superintendent of such results and the teaching staff member shall return to their position in the school district unless the Superintendent has a reason the teaching staff member should not be returned to their position. Any records or documentation related to the incident shall not be included in the teaching staff member's personnel file.~~
5. If the **Board** physician determines, based upon the medical examination and the results of the substance test, that the teaching staff member was under the influence of a substance during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member was assigned job responsibilities, the **Board** physician will:
  - a. Discuss the results of the examination and substance test with the teaching staff member and provide the teaching staff member an opportunity to present any medical or other reasons for the **Board** physician's determination.
  - b. Provide the teaching staff member an opportunity to have the substance test results confirmed by a ~~State-licensed clinical~~ laboratory selected by the **teaching** staff member and approved by the **Board** physician **and** Superintendent.



- (1) The **Board** physician will schedule and coordinate the **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test procedures, including the acceptable time period for the **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test to be conducted based on the existing test results, and the time in which a **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test result would be valid. **This confirmation test shall be paid for by the teaching staff member.**
  - (2) The **confirmation** ~~confirming substance~~ test results must be provided to the **Board** physician **and Superintendent** within the time period required by the **Board** physician.
  - (3) Any **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test results provided to the **Board** physician **and Superintendent** not within the time period required by the **Board** physician shall not be accepted and the teaching staff member shall be determined to have waived their right to ~~a~~ have **the results of a confirmation** ~~confirming substance~~ test considered ~~by the physician.~~
- c. After completing the requirements in **5. a.** and **b.** above, the **Board** physician shall make a final determination whether the teaching staff member was under the influence of a substance during ~~the~~ work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member was assigned job responsibilities.
- (1) If the **Board** physician makes a final determination the teaching staff member was not under the influence during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member was assigned job responsibilities, the **Board** physician will report **a final determination** ~~these results~~ to the Superintendent and the teaching staff member shall return to their position in the school district **unless the Superintendent has a reason the teaching staff member should not be returned to their position.** ~~and Any records or~~



documentation **regarding a negative medical examination or substance test** ~~related to the incident~~ shall not be included in the teaching staff member's personnel file.

- (2) If the **Board** physician makes a final determination the teaching staff member was under the influence during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member was assigned job responsibilities, the **Board** physician will report a **final determination** ~~these results~~ to the Superintendent of Schools and the teaching staff member will be required to meet with the Superintendent.

**DC.** Procedures to be Followed When a Teaching Staff Member is Determined to be Under the Influence of a Substance

1. Any teaching staff member ~~who has been~~ determined by the **Board** physician to be under the influence of a substance during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member was assigned job responsibilities shall be required to meet with the Superintendent.
  - a. The teaching staff member may include a staff member or a representative of their choice in this meeting.
2. The Superintendent will provide the teaching staff member an opportunity to respond to the **Board** physician's determination.
3. A teaching staff member ~~who has been~~ determined to ~~be have been~~ under the influence of a substance during work hours or at a school-sponsored function where the teaching staff member was assigned job responsibilities will be subject to appropriate discipline which may include, **but not be limited to:**
  - a. **Withholding an increment;**
  - b. **Terminating** ~~termination of~~ a non-tenured teaching staff member; **and/or**
  - c. ~~the F~~iling of tenure charges for a tenured teaching staff member.



# REGULATION

FORT LEE  
BOARD OF EDUCATION

TEACHING STAFF MEMBERS

R 3218/Page 8 of 8

**Use, Possession, or Distribution of Substances Abuse**  
(M)

Issued: 23 August 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019

DRAFT



[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 125, 133, 205 and 218]

## 4218 USE, POSSESSION, OR DISTRIBUTION OF SUBSTANCES ABUSE

The Board of Education recognizes a support staff member who reports to work under the influence of a ~~substance drugs or alcohol~~ poses a significant threat to their health, safety, and welfare and the health, safety, and welfare of others, including students and other staff members. The Board strongly advises any support staff member that has a dependency on a substance as defined in this Policy to seek appropriate treatment. The Board has an obligation and the right to maintain a safe and healthy work environment and adopts this Policy as an important component toward maintaining a safe environment in the school district. ~~A support staff member is prohibited from possession, use, distribution, or being under the influence of any substance during work hours.~~

For the purposes of this Policy, “substance” or “substances” **as defined in N.J.S.A. 18A:40A-9 and N.J.A.C. 6A:16-4.1(a)** means alcoholic beverages; any controlled dangerous substances, including anabolic steroids as defined in N.J.S.A. 24:21-2 and N.J.S.A. 2C:35-2; ~~or~~ any chemical or chemical compound which releases vapors or fumes causing a condition of intoxication, inebriation, excitement, stupefaction, or dulling of the brain or nervous system, including, but not limited to, glue containing a solvent having the property of releasing toxic vapors or fumes as defined in N.J.S.A. 2C:35-10.4; and over-the-counter and prescription medications that are improperly used to cause intoxication, inebriation, excitement, stupefaction, or dulling of the brain or nervous system.

~~Any support staff member who reports to work under the influence of or in possession of any substance will be subject to appropriate discipline, which may include termination or the filing of tenure charges for a tenured support staff member in accordance with law.~~

A support staff member shall be required to submit to an immediate medical examination to include a substance test if the support staff member’s supervisor has reasonable suspicion to believe a support staff member is under the influence of a substance during work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member has been assigned job responsibilities**. Refusal by of a support staff member to consent to the medical examination **including a and** substance test will be **deemed determined to be a positive result for substances**. **In the event the results of the medical examination and substance test are not**





**provided to the Superintendent, within twenty-four hours or as soon as the test results are available, it will be deemed a positive result for substances and the support staff member shall be subject to appropriate discipline. Any required medical examination and testing shall be paid for by the Board.**

~~In the event a support staff member's medical examination and substance test results are negative for a substance, any documents or records pertaining to the requirement for the examination and test and results will not be maintained by the school district. Any required examination and testing shall be paid for by the Board. The support staff member will be afforded the opportunity to have any test results confirmed using acceptable test confirmation practices. This confirming test shall be paid for by the support staff member.~~

**In the event the Board physician determines the support staff member was under the influence of a substance, the determination shall be reported to the Superintendent and the support staff member will be subject to appropriate discipline. Appropriate discipline may include, but not be limited to, withholding an increment, terminating a non-tenured support staff member, and/or filing tenure charges for a tenured support staff member in accordance with law. The support staff member will be afforded the opportunity to have positive test results confirmed using acceptable confirmation test practices. This confirmation test shall be paid for by the support staff member.**

**In the event a support staff member's medical examination and substance test results are negative for a substance or if the Board physician determines the support staff member was not under the influence of a substance, the results or determination shall be reported to the Superintendent and the support staff member shall be returned to their position unless the Superintendent has a reason the support staff member should not be returned to their position.**

In accordance with the requirements of N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a), any support staff member who, in the course of their employment, has reason to believe a school staff member has unlawfully possessed or in any way been involved in the distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids, or



drug paraphernalia, shall report the matter as soon as possible to the Principal, or in the absence of the Principal, to the staff member's **supervisor** responsible at the time of the alleged violation. Either the Principal or the staff member's **supervisor responsible at the time of the alleged violation** shall notify the Superintendent of Schools who shall notify, as soon as possible, the County Prosecutor or other law enforcement official designated by the County Prosecutor to receive such information. The Superintendent or designee shall provide to the County Prosecutor or designee all known information concerning the matter, including the identity of the staff member involved.

In accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a)3, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose the identity of a ~~support~~ staff member who has voluntarily sought and participated in an appropriate treatment or counseling program for an alcohol or drug abuse problem, provided the ~~support~~ staff member is not reasonably believed to be involved or implicated in drug-distribution activities. An admission by a ~~support~~ staff member in response to questioning initiated by the Principal or **Superintendent's** designee or following the discovery by the Principal or **Superintendent's** designee of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids, or drug paraphernalia, shall not constitute a voluntary, self-initiated request for counseling and treatment.

**A staff member who unlawfully possessed or in any way has been involved in the distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids or drug paraphernalia, pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3, shall be subject to appropriate discipline which may include, but not be limited to, termination of a non-tenured support staff member or the filing of tenure charges for a tenured support staff member in accordance with law.**

42 CFR Part 2

N.J.S.A. 18A:16-3; 18A:40A-9

N.J.A.C. 6A:16-4.1; 6A:16-6.3; 6A:16-6.5 ~~6A:32-6.3~~

Adopted: 23 August 2010

DRAFT: 14 October 2019



[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 125, 133, 205 and 218]

R 4218 USE, POSSESSION, OR DISTRIBUTION OF SUBSTANCES ABUSE

A. Definition

1. **“Board physician” means a physician currently licensed by the New Jersey Board of Medical Examiners in medicine or osteopathy and appointed by the Board of Education.**
24. **“Substance” or “substances” as defined in N.J.S.A. 18A:40A-9 and N.J.A.C. 6A:16-4.1(a)** means alcoholic beverages; any controlled dangerous substances, including anabolic steroids as defined in N.J.S.A. 24:21-2 and N.J.S.A. 2C:35-2; ~~or~~ any chemical or chemical compound which releases vapors or fumes causing a condition of intoxication, inebriation, excitement, stupefaction, or dulling of the brain or nervous system, including, but not limited to, glue containing a solvent having the property of releasing toxic vapors or fumes as defined in N.J.S.A. 2C:35-10.4; and over-the-counter and prescription medications that are improperly used to cause intoxication, inebriation, excitement, stupefaction, or dulling of the brain or nervous system.
32. **“Substance test” means a test conducted by a Board-approved** ~~State-licensed-clinical~~ laboratory using accepted substance use practices, accepted chain of custody procedures, and testing methodology recommended by the laboratory instrument’s manufacturer.
43. **“Support staff member’s supervisor” or “supervisor” means the building or district administrative staff member who is responsible for supervising the support staff member. For the purposes of this Policy and Regulation, the support staff member’s supervisor shall be the support staff member’s Principal, ~~School Business Administrator/Board Secretary, district Director or Supervisor,~~ or any other administrative staff member **responsible at the time of the alleged violation or as** designated by the Superintendent.**
54. **“Under the influence” means the presence of a substance as defined in Policy 4218 and this Regulation as confirmed in a medical examination and substance test.**



**B. Procedures to be Followed When a Support Staff Member has Unlawfully Possessed or has been Involved in the Distribution of a Controlled Dangerous Substance is Suspected to be Under the Influence of a Substance**

**1. Subject to N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.5, any staff member who, in the course of their employment, has reason to believe a staff member has unlawfully possessed or in any way been involved in the distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids, or drug paraphernalia, shall report the matter as soon as possible to the staff member's supervisor in accordance with the provisions of Policy 4218 and N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a).**

**a. In accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a)1, upon receiving a report, the supervisor shall notify the Superintendent who shall notify, as soon as possible, the County Prosecutor or other law enforcement official designated by the County Prosecutor to receive such information.**

**b. In accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:16-6.3(a)2, the Superintendent or designee shall provide to the County Prosecutor or designee all known information concerning the matter including the identity of the staff member involved.**

**c. A staff member who unlawfully possessed or in any way has been involved in the distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, including anabolic steroids, or drug paraphernalia, shall be subject to appropriate discipline, which may include, but not be limited to, termination of a non-tenured support staff member or the filing of tenure charges for a tenured support staff member in accordance with law.**

**C. Procedures to be Followed When a Support Staff Member is Suspected to be Under the Influence of a Substance**



1. The following procedures shall be used when a support staff member is suspected of being under the influence of a substance during work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member has been assigned job responsibilities.**
  - a. The support staff member's supervisor, upon receiving a report or information a support staff member may be under the influence of a substance during work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member has been assigned job responsibilities** will:
    - (1) Immediately notify the Superintendent of Schools;
    - (2) Immediately meet with the support staff member;
      - (a) The support staff member's supervisor may include another staff member in this meeting; and
      - (b) The support staff member suspected of being under the influence may include another staff member or a representative of their choice in this meeting.
  - b. The support staff member's supervisor shall present to the support staff member the report or information supporting the suspicion the support staff member may be under the influence of a substance.
  - c. The support staff member shall be provided an opportunity to respond to the report or information presented by the supervisor.
  - d. In the event the supervisor or designee believes the support staff member may be under the influence of a substance after meeting with the support staff member, the supervisor will arrange for an immediate medical examination **by the Board physician. The medical examination shall to include a substance test administered by the Board physician or a Board-approved laboratory.**
  - e. The support staff member shall be transported to the examination and testing location by means of transportation



- approved by the Superintendent or designee and shall be accompanied by the support staff member's supervisor or designee.
- f. The support staff member, prior to the medical examination and substance test, will be informed by the **Board** physician or ~~the physician's~~ designee on the type of testing to be completed and the substances that will be tested.
  - g. The support staff member may, prior to being examined ~~and~~ tested, disclose to the **Board** physician **or designee** any prescription medicine, over-the-counter medicine or supplements, or any other reason why the support staff member's test results may be positive.
  - h. **Refusal by a** ~~A~~ support staff member's refusal to **consent to the medical examination which includes a substance test** ~~be examined or tested in accordance with the provisions of Policy 4218 and this Regulation~~ will be deemed as a positive **result** test for substances.
2. The **results of the** medical examination and substance test shall be used by the **Board** physician to determine if the support staff member is under the influence of any substance as defined in Policy 4218 and this Regulation. The substance test procedures will provide for a **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test using acceptable confirmation test procedures.
    - a. **Any specimen determined by the Board physician or Board-approved laboratory to have been adulterated by the support staff member will be deemed a positive result for substances.**
  3. ~~The physician shall receive the results of the substance test~~ **shall be provided to the Superintendent and Board physician** within twenty-four hours of the test being administered ~~or . If the results of the substance test are not available within twenty-four hours, the physician shall report the results to the Superintendent and the support staff member as soon as the test results are available.~~ **The Superintendent shall provide the support staff member with these results.**



- a. **In the event the results of the medical examination and substance test are not provided to the Superintendent, it will be deemed a positive result for substances.**
4. If the **Board** physician determines, based upon the medical examination and the results of the substance test, that the support staff member was not under the influence of a substance during work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member was assigned job responsibilities**, ~~the physician will notify the Superintendent of such results and the support staff member shall return to their position in the school district unless the Superintendent has a reason the support staff member should not be returned to their position. Any records or documentation related to the incident shall not be included in the support staff member's personnel file.~~
5. If the **Board** physician determines, based upon the medical examination and the results of the substance test, that the support staff member was under the influence of a substance during work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member was assigned job responsibilities**, the **Board** physician will:
  - a. Discuss the results of the examination and substance test with the support staff member and provide the support staff member an opportunity to present any medical or other reasons for the **Board** physician's determination.
  - b. Provide the support staff member an opportunity to have the substance test results confirmed by a ~~State-licensed clinical~~ laboratory selected by the **support** staff member and approved by the **Board** physician **and Superintendent**.
    - (1) The **Board** physician will schedule and coordinate the **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test procedures, including the acceptable time period for the **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test to be conducted based on the existing test results, and the time in which a **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test result would be valid. **This confirmation test shall be paid for by the support staff member.**



- (2) The **confirmation** ~~confirming substance~~ test results must be provided to the **Board physician and Superintendent** within the time period required by the **Board physician**.
  - (3) Any **confirmation** ~~confirming~~ test results provided to the **Board physician and Superintendent** not within the time period required by the **Board physician** shall not be accepted and the support staff member shall be determined to have waived their right to ~~a have~~ **the results of a confirmation** ~~confirming substance~~ test ~~considered by the physician~~.
- c. After completing the requirements in 5. a. and b. above, the **Board physician** shall make a final determination whether the support staff member was under the influence of a substance during the work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member was assigned job responsibilities**.
- (1) If the **Board physician** makes a final determination the support staff member was not under the influence during work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member was assigned job responsibilities**, the **Board physician** will report a **final determination** ~~these results~~ to the Superintendent and the support staff member shall return to their position in the school district **unless the Superintendent has a reason the support staff member should not be returned to their position.** ~~and~~ Any records or documentation **regarding a negative medical examination or substance test related to the incident** shall not be included in the support staff member's personnel file.
  - (2) If the **Board physician** makes a final determination the support staff member was under the influence during work hours **or at a school-sponsored**





**function where the support staff member was assigned job responsibilities**, the Board physician will report a **final determination** ~~these results~~ to the Superintendent of Schools and ~~the support staff member will be required to meet with the Superintendent.~~

DC. Procedures to be Followed When a Support Staff Member is Determined to be Under the Influence of a Substance

1. Any support staff member ~~who has been~~ determined by the Board physician to be under the influence of a substance during work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member was assigned job responsibilities** shall be required to meet with the Superintendent.
  - a. The support staff member may include a staff member or a representative of their choice in this meeting.
2. The Superintendent will provide the support staff member an opportunity to respond to the Board physician's determination.
3. A support staff member ~~who has been~~ determined to ~~be have been~~ under the influence of a substance during work hours **or at a school-sponsored function where the support staff member was assigned job responsibilities** will be subject to appropriate discipline which may include, **but not be limited to:**
  - a. **Withholding an increment;**
  - b. **Terminating termination of a non-tenured support staff member; and/or**
  - c. ~~the F~~ filing of tenure charges for a tenured support staff member.

Issued: 23 August 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019



Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 130, 162, 217 and 218]

4219 COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE  
AND ALCOHOL USE TESTING

The Board of Education is committed to a safe, efficient, alcohol and drug-free workplace that protects the district's students as well as the health and safety of its employees and the general public.

Select One Option Below:

~~[Option 1 – For School Districts That Contract All Transportation Services and Have No School Buses, Bus Drivers, or Employees Who Operate a School Vehicle Requiring a Commercial Driver's License (CDL)]~~

~~The Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991 requires all operators of commercial motor vehicles subject to the Commercial Driver's License (CDL) requirements to be tested for controlled substances and alcohol. Federal regulations of the United States Department of Transportation require that any employee using a CDL be required to submit to alcohol and controlled substance testing in accordance with 49 CFR 40 et seq.~~

~~In the event the Board contracts with a service provider for transportation, the \_\_\_\_\_ (designated official) will ensure all transportation contractors comply with the drug and alcohol testing requirements of Policy 4219 pursuant to 49 CFR 382 et seq. and 49 CFR 40 et seq.~~

~~The school district shall maintain and retain all records as required by Federal regulation.]~~

[Option 2 - For School Districts That Have School Buses, Bus Drivers, or Employees Who Operate a School Vehicle Requiring a Commercial Driver's License (CDL)]

The Board requires all employees of the Board performing any safety-sensitive function to be free of drugs and alcohol and will test those employees who operate a commercial motor vehicle in accordance with 49 CFR 382 et seq. and 49 CFR 40 et seq. For the purpose of this Policy "employee" means a person



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

required to have a Commercial Driver's License (CDL) in the performance of their job responsibilities. Safety-sensitive functions as defined by 49 CFR 382.107 means any time from the time an employee begins to work or is required to be in readiness to work until the time the employee is relieved from work and all responsibility for performing work. Safety-sensitive functions shall include:

1. All time at the terminal, facility, other property, or on any public property, waiting to be dispatched, unless relieved from duty;
2. All time inspecting equipment as required by Federal law or otherwise inspecting, servicing, or conditioning any commercial motor vehicle, at any time;
3. All time spent at the driving controls of a commercial motor vehicle in operation;
4. All time, other than driving time, in or upon the commercial motor vehicle except time spent resting in an area defined as a sleeping berth;
5. All time loading or unloading a vehicle, supervising, or assisting in the loading or unloading, attending a vehicle being loaded or unloaded, remaining in readiness to operate the vehicle, or in giving or receiving receipts for shipments loaded and unloaded; and
6. All time repairing, obtaining assistance, or remaining in attendance upon a disabled vehicle.

The Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991 requires all operators of commercial motor vehicles subject to the CDL requirements to be tested for controlled substances and alcohol. Federal regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation require that any employee using a CDL be required to submit to alcohol and controlled substance testing in accordance with 49 CFR 40.

The Board designates the **Superintendent or designee (designated official)** as the Designated Employer Representative (DER) of the Board of Education. The Board may contract with a service agent to provide the testing services as required by Federal law. In the event the Board contracts with a service provider for transportation, the Board designee will ensure all transportation contractors comply with the drug and alcohol testing requirements of Policy 4219 pursuant to 49 CFR 382 et seq. and 49 CFR 40 et seq.



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

No employee at any work site will possess, manufacture, use, sell, or distribute any quantity of any controlled substance, lawful or unlawful, which in sufficient quantity could result in impaired performance, with the exception of substances administered by or under the instructions of a physician. No employee shall perform safety-sensitive functions within four hours after using alcohol and the district will not permit an employee that used alcohol within four hours of performing safety-sensitive functions to perform such functions if the district has actual knowledge of the use, in accordance with 49 CFR 392.5.

### Violations

Any violation of this Policy may result in discipline, up to and including termination.

### Prohibited Substances

The presence of any of the controlled substances, listed in 49 CFR 40.87, in the body, as evidenced by the results of the initial screening and subsequent confirmatory analysis provided in this Policy, is prohibited for any employee assigned to a classification covered by this Policy. All cutoff concentrations shall be in accordance with 49 CFR 40.87. All test results shall be measured against the cutoff concentrations outlined in 49 CFR 40.87.

### Testing Procedures

All testing for controlled substances will be conducted in accordance with 49 CFR 40, Subparts A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H and I. The district will only test for drugs or classes of drugs in accordance with 49 CFR 40.85. Testing for alcohol will be conducted in accordance with 49 CFR 40, Subparts J, K, L, M and N.

### Definitions

“Alcohol use” means the drinking or swallowing of any beverage, liquid mixture or preparation (including medication), containing alcohol.

“Aliquot” means a fractional part of a specimen used for testing. It is taken as a sample representing the whole specimen.

“Confirmatory drug test” means a second analytical procedure performed on an aliquot of the original specimen to identify and quantify the presence of a specific drug or drug metabolite.



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

“Confirmed drug test” means a confirmation test result received by a Medical Review Officer (MRO) from a laboratory.

“Controlled substances” means those substances identified in 49 CFR 40.85.

“CCF” means the Federal Drug Testing Custody and Control Form.

“Designated Employer Representative (DER)” is an employee of the district authorized to take immediate action(s) to remove employees from safety-sensitive duties, or cause employees to be removed from these covered duties, and to make required decisions in the testing and evaluation processes. The DER shall receive test results and other communications for the employer consistent with the requirements of this Policy and 49 CFR 40. Service agents cannot act as a DER.

“FMCSA” means Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration.

“Initial drug test (also known as a “Screening drug test”)” means the test used to differentiate a negative specimen from one that requires further testing for drugs or drug metabolites.

“Initial specimen validity test” means the first test used to determine if a urine specimen is adulterated, diluted, substituted, or invalid.

“Medical Review Officer (MRO)” is a licensed physician responsible for receiving and reviewing laboratory results generated by the district's drug testing program and evaluating medical explanations for certain drug test results.

“Possess” includes, but is not limited to, either in or on the driver's person, personal effects, motor vehicle, or areas substantially entrusted to the control of the driver.

“Service agent” is any person or entity, other than an employee of the Board, who provides services specified under 49 CFR 40 to the Board.

“Substance Abuse Professional (SAP)” is a person who evaluates employees who have violated a Federal or State drug and alcohol regulation and makes recommendations concerning education, treatment, follow-up testing, and aftercare. An individual permitted to act as a SAP must possess the credentials as outlined in 49 CFR 40.281.



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

“Work Site” means any motor vehicle, office, building, yard, or other location at which the driver is to perform work or any other school district property or at any school district event.

### Categories of Testing

For the purpose of this Policy, the occurrence of the following circumstances/instances shall require an employee to submit to a controlled substance and alcohol screening:

#### 1. Pre-Employment Testing

An individual who has applied for and has been selected to operate a Board vehicle shall, before beginning employment with the Board, submit to a controlled substance screening in conjunction with any required physical examination as per Policy 4160. Such screening shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Policy and 49 CFR 40. No individual receiving a positive confirmed test result will be employed by the Board.

An employer is not required to administer a controlled substances test required by 49 CFR 382.301(a) if:

- a. The employee has participated in a controlled substances testing program that met the requirements of 49 CFR 382 et seq. within the previous thirty days; and
- b. The employee while participating in that program either:
  - (1) Was tested for controlled substances within the past six months (from the date of application with the employer); or
  - (2) Participated in the random controlled substances testing program for the previous twelve months (from the date of application with the employer.)
- c. The DER must ensure that no prior employer, to the DER's knowledge, has records of a violation of a controlled substances testing program within the previous six months.



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

If an individual is so exempted, the DER shall contact the controlled substances testing programs in which the individual participated and shall obtain and retain from the testing program(s) the following information in accordance with 49 CFR 382.301(c):

- a. Name and address of the program;
- b. Verification of the individual's participation;
- c. Verification that the program conforms to Federal guidelines;
- d. Verification the individual qualified under the law and did not refuse to be tested for controlled substances;
- e. The date the individual was last tested for controlled substances; and
- f. The results of any tests taken within the previous six months and any other violations.

An employee who has applied for and has been selected to operate a Board vehicle or any existing employee transferring into a new position requiring the employee to operate a Board vehicle, shall submit a written consent authorizing the Board to obtain the following information from other employers who have employed the employee during any period during the two years before the date of the employee's application or transfer into the new position. The written consent from the employee will permit the DER to obtain the following information from previous Division of Transportation (DOT)-regulated employers:

- a. Alcohol tests with a result of 0.04 or higher alcohol concentration;
- b. Verified positive drug tests;
- c. Refusals to be tested (including verified adulterated or substituted drug test results);



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

- d. Other violations of DOT agency drug and alcohol testing regulations; and
- e. With respect to any employee who violated a DOT drug and alcohol regulation, documentation of the employee's successful completion of DOT return-to-duty requirements (including follow-up tests). If this information is not available from the previous employer, the DER must seek to obtain this information from the employee.

The DER will obtain and review this information before the employee first performs safety-sensitive functions. If this is not feasible, the DER will not permit the employee to perform safety-sensitive functions after thirty days from the date the employee first performed safety-sensitive functions, unless the DER has obtained or made and documented a good faith effort to obtain this information.

### 2. Random Testing

Every employee shall submit to random alcohol and controlled substance testing on an unannounced and random basis resulting from the selection by a random generation methodology in accordance with 49 CFR 383.305(i). Random testing will be spread reasonably throughout any given calendar year.

The minimum annual percentage rate for random alcohol testing shall be ten percent of the average number of driver positions. The minimum annual percentage rate for random controlled substances testing shall be twenty-five percent of the average number of driver positions. The minimum annual percentage rates may be adjusted as determined by the FMCSA Administrator in accordance with 49 CFR 382.305.

Employees shall only be random tested when performing safety-sensitive functions or immediately prior to or immediately following the performance of safety-sensitive functions.





## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

### 3. Post-Accident Testing

The involvement by an employee in a motor vehicle collision while operating a Board vehicle when such accident results in property damage or personal injury, may trigger a post-accident drug and alcohol test.

As soon as practical following an occurrence, the DER will require post-accident alcohol screening for each of the surviving drivers:

- a. Who was performing safety-sensitive functions with respect to a vehicle, if the accident involves the loss of human life; or
- b. Who receives a citation within eight hours of the occurrence under State or local law for a moving traffic violation arising from the accident, if the accident involved:
  - (1) Bodily injury to any person who, as a result of the injury, immediately receives medical treatment away from the scene of the accident; or
  - (2) One or more motor vehicles incurring disabling damage as a result of the accident, requiring the motor vehicle to be transported away from the scene by a tow truck or other motor vehicle.
- c. If the alcohol test is not administered within two hours following the accident, the DER will prepare and maintain on file a record stating the reasons the test was not promptly administered. If the alcohol test is not administered within eight hours following the accident, the DER shall cease attempts to administer the alcohol test and shall prepare and maintain the same record. Records shall be submitted to the FMCSA upon request.

As soon as possible following an occurrence, the district will require post-accident controlled substance screening for each of the surviving drivers:



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

- a. Who was performing safety-sensitive functions with respect to a vehicle, if the accident involves the loss of human life; or
- b. Who receives a citation within thirty-two hours of the occurrence under State or local law for a moving traffic violation arising from the accident, if the accident involved:
  - (1) Bodily injury to any person who, as a result of the injury, immediately receives medical treatment away from the scene of the accident; or
  - (2) One or more motor vehicles incurring disabling damage as a result of the accident, requiring the motor vehicle to be transported away from the scene by a tow truck or other motor vehicle.
- c. If the controlled substance test is not administered within thirty-two hours following the accident, the DER shall cease attempts to administer the controlled substance test and shall prepare and maintain on file a record stating the reasons the test was not promptly administered. Records shall be submitted to the FMCSA upon request.

An employee who is subject to post-accident testing shall remain readily available for such testing or may be deemed by the employer to have refused to submit for testing. (An employee who is injured in an accident and requires medical care, shall submit to post-accident drug and controlled substance testing by the medical care facility providing the treatment or a designee of the Board if the facility is unable to provide the testing.) Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent the employee from leaving the scene of the accident for the period required to obtain necessary assistance or to obtain emergency medical care.

### 4. Reasonable Suspicion Testing

The DER shall require an employee to submit to an alcohol and/or controlled substance test when the employee is observed by a supervisor or school official who is trained in accordance with 49 CFR 382.603 and causes the observer to have reasonable



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

suspicion to believe the employee has violated 49 CFR 382 et seq. Reasonable suspicion must exist to require the employee to undergo a test and must be based on specific, contemporaneous, articulable observations concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or body odors of the employee. The observations may include indications of the chronic and withdrawal effects of controlled substances.

Reasonable suspicion alcohol testing is authorized only if the required observations are made during, just preceding, or just after the period of the work day the employee is required to be in compliance with the testing requirements of 49 CFR 382 et seq.

Reasonable suspicion testing may be required of an employee while the employee is performing, just before the employee will perform, or just after the employee has ceased performing safety-sensitive functions.

If the alcohol test is not administered within two hours following the determination a reasonable suspicion test is required, the DER will prepare and maintain on file a record stating the reasons the test was not promptly administered. If the alcohol test is not administered within eight hours following the determination, the DER shall cease attempts to administer the alcohol test and shall state in the record the reasons for not administering the test.

No employee shall report for duty or remain on duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions while the employee is under the influence of or impaired by alcohol, as shown by the behavioral, speech, and performance indicators of alcohol misuse. The employee will also not be able to perform or continue to perform safety-sensitive functions until an alcohol test is administered and the employee's concentration measures less than 0.02 or twenty-four hours have elapsed following the determination that reasonable suspicion existed to require an alcohol test.

A written record of the observations leading to a reasonable suspicion test shall be made and signed by the supervisor and/or school official that made the observations. This record shall be



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

made within twenty-four hours of the observed behavior or before the results of the test are released, whichever is earlier.

### 5. Return to Duty Testing

The district is not required to return an employee to a safety-sensitive position upon receipt of a confirmed drug and/or alcohol test.

The DER may recommend to the Superintendent of Schools the employee's employment be terminated depending on the circumstances.

The DER shall ensure that before an employee returns to duty requiring the performance of a safety-sensitive function, the employee shall undergo a return to duty alcohol test indicating a breath alcohol concentration of less than 0.02 and a controlled substances test with a result indicating a verified negative result for controlled substances use as required in 49 CFR 40.305.

Employees permitted to return to duty are required to take return-to-duty tests and shall be evaluated by a SAP. These employees must participate in an assistance program prescribed by the SAP and as required in 49 CFR 40 Subpart O.

The SAP will determine a written follow-up testing plan for any employee who has been permitted to return to work and has successfully complied with the SAP's recommendations for education and/or treatment. Such employees are subject to a minimum of six unannounced, follow-up drug screenings and alcohol tests over the following twelve months. The testing shall not exceed forty-eight additional months. Alcohol follow-up testing shall be performed only when the employee is performing

safety-sensitive functions or immediately prior to performing or immediately after performing safety-sensitive functions. All follow-up testing will be completed in accordance with 49 CFR 40.307. The SAP will comply with all reporting requirements of 49 CFR 40.311.



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

The Board shall make the ultimate determination to return or not return an employee to a safety-sensitive position subject to any collective bargaining agreements, if any, or other legal requirements.

### Medical Review Officer (MRO) Notifications

The Board shall employ or contract with a MRO who is a licensed physician (M.D. or D.O.) and shall designate the MRO as the individual responsible for receiving laboratory results generated by the testing program. The MRO shall have knowledge of controlled substances abuse disorders and have appropriate medical training to interpret and evaluate the employee's confirmed drug test results together with his/her medical history and other biomedical data. The MRO will perform all functions and responsibilities as required in 49 CFR 40.121.

### Employer Notification

The MRO may report controlled substances test results to the DER by any means of communication; however, a signed, written notification must be forwarded within three business days of the completion of the MRO's evaluation. The MRO must report all drug test results to the employer. The MRO may use a signed or stamped and dated legible photocopy of Copy 2 of the CCF to report test results or a written report that must include, at a minimum, the information required in 49 CFR 40.163.

### Split Specimen Tests

Split specimen testing will be conducted in accordance with 49 CFR 40 Subpart H. The MRO will notify the Superintendent of Schools or designee if split specimen testing is requested by the employee.

### Designated Collection Facility

The Board shall designate the facility to be used for the collection of the specimen; provided, however, that the designated facility shall possess all required licenses and permits. The collection site will take place in a facility meeting the requirements of 49 CFR 40 Subpart D. The DER will ensure the collection site meets the security requirements of 49 CFR 40.43.

### Designated Screening Laboratory



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

The Board shall designate the laboratory to which collected fluid samples will be forwarded for drug/alcohol screening. Drug testing laboratories must be certified by the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) under the National Laboratory Certification Program (NLCP) for all testing required under 49 CFR 40. The laboratory will perform all responsibilities as required in accordance with 49 CFR 40 Subpart F.

### Specimens

The normal screening methodology for controlled substances shall be urinalysis, collected by a trained representative of the Board with appropriate documentation at a site designated and approved by the Board. The presence of alcohol will be determined by an Alcohol Screening Device (ASD) or an Evidential Breath Testing Device administered by an individual certified in accordance with 49 CFR 40.211 and 49 CFR 40.213.

### Refusal to Submit

An employee will be deemed as refusing to take a drug test as described in 49 CFR 40.191. As per 49 CFR 40.191, an employee refuses to take a drug test if he/she:

1. Fails to appear for any test (except a pre-employment test) within a reasonable time, as determined by the DER, consistent with applicable DOT agency regulations, after being directed to do so by the DER;
2. Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete. An employee who leaves the testing site before the testing process commences for a pre-employment test is not deemed to have refused to test;
3. Fails to provide a urine specimen for any drug test required by this Policy. An employee who does not provide a urine specimen because he or she has left the testing site before the testing process commences for a pre-employment test is not deemed to have refused to test;
4. Fails to permit the observation or monitoring of providing a specimen in the case of a directly observed or monitored collection in a drug test;



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

5. Fails to provide a sufficient amount of urine when directed, and it has been determined, through a required medical evaluation, that there was no adequate medical explanation for the failure;
6. Fails or declines to take an additional drug test the DER or collector has directed the employee to take;
7. Fails to undergo a medical examination or evaluation, as directed by the MRO as part of the verification process, or as directed by the DER under 49 CFR 40.193(d). In the case of a pre-employment drug test, the employee is deemed to have refused to test on this basis only if the pre-employment test is conducted following a contingent offer of employment;
8. Fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process (e.g., refuses to empty pockets when so directed by the collector, behaves in a confrontational way that disrupts the collection process, fails to wash hands after being directed to do so by the collector);
9. Fails to follow the collection observer(s) instructions of which could be used to interfere with the collection process;
10. Possesses or wears a prosthetic or other device that could be used to interfere with the collection process; or
11. Admits to the collector or MRO he/she has adulterated or substituted the specimen.

If the MRO reports the employee had a verified adulterated or substituted test result, the result will be deemed refusal to take a drug test.

If an employee refuses to participate in a part of the testing process, the collector or MRO, must terminate the portion of the testing process, document the refusal on the CCF (including in the case of the collector, printing the employee's name on Copy 2 of the CCF), immediately notify the DER by any means (e.g., telephone or secure fax machine) that ensures that the refusal notification is immediately received. A referral physician (e.g., physician evaluating a "shy bladder" condition or a claim of a legitimate medical explanation in a validity testing situation) must notify the MRO, who in turn will notify the DER. In addition, the collector must note the refusal in the "Remarks" line (Step 2), and sign and date the CCF. The MRO must note the refusal by checking the "Refused to Test" box (Step 6) on Copy 2 of the CCF, and add the reason on the "Remarks"



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

line. The MRO must then sign and date the CCF. When the employee refuses to take a non-DOT test or to sign a non-DOT form, the employee has not refused to take a DOT test. There are no consequences under DOT agency regulations for refusing to take a non-DOT test.

### Record of Negative Screening

An employee required to submit to an alcohol and/or controlled substance screening as provided in this Policy and whose screening results are negative may, at their option, have their personnel file documented to reflect the negative result.

### Prescription Drugs

All bus drivers shall notify the DER of the use of any prescription drugs. The Board may require certification from the prescribing physician that the use of the prescription drug will not have an adverse effect on the driver's ability to properly perform safety-sensitive functions.

### Consequences to Employees Engaging in Prohibited Conduct

An employee whose screening produces a positive result for a prohibited substance who is permitted to return to work:

1. Shall not be permitted to perform safety-sensitive functions;
2. Shall be advised by the DER of resources available to them in evaluating and resolving problems associated with the misuse of alcohol or the use of controlled substances;
3. Shall be evaluated by a SAP who shall determine what assistance, if any, is needed to resolve problems with alcohol or controlled substance use;
4. Undergo, before returning to duty, a return to duty alcohol test indicating a breath level of less than 0.02 if the conduct involved alcohol or a controlled substance test with a verified negative result;





## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

5. If assistance was required, the employee must be evaluated by a SAP to determine that the employee has followed the rehabilitation program prescribed;
6. Be subject to unannounced follow-up alcohol and/or controlled substance abuse testing; and
7. Be subject to the disciplinary Policy and Regulations of the Board.

### Return-to-Work Agreement

An employee who has been permitted to return to work and who fails to comply with any of the terms of a Return to Work Agreement, if provided at the employer's discretion, shall be subject to disciplinary action which may include termination.

### Maintenance and Retention of Records

The DER shall maintain and retain all records as required by Federal regulation. Records shall include at least the following:

1. Records Related to the Collection Process
  - a. Collection logbooks (if used);
  - b. Documents related to the random selection process;
  - c. Calibration documentation for Evidential Breath Testing Devices (EBT's);
  - d. Documentation of Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT) training;
  - e. Documentation of reasoning for reasonable suspicion testing;
  - f. Documentation of reasoning for post-accident testing;
  - g. Documents verifying a medical explanation for the inability to provide adequate breath or urine for testing; and
  - h. Consolidated annual calendar year summaries.



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

2. Records Related to the Employee's Test Results
  - a. Employer's copy of the alcohol test form, including results;
  - b. Employer's copy of the controlled substance test chain of custody and control form;
  - c. Documents sent to the employer by the MRO;
  - d. Documentation of any employee's refusal to submit to a required alcohol or controlled substance test; and
  - e. Documents provided by an employee to dispute results of test.
3. Documentation of any Other Violations of Controlled Substance Use or Alcohol Misuse Policies
4. Records Related to Evaluations and Training
  - a. Records pertaining to the SAP's determination of an employee's need for assistance;
  - b. Records concerning an employee's compliance with the SAP's recommendations, and records related to education and training;
  - c. Materials on drug and alcohol awareness, including a copy of the employer's policy on drug use and alcohol misuse;
  - d. Documentation of compliance with the requirement to provide employees with educational material, including an employee's signed receipt of materials;
  - e. Documentation of supervisor training; and
  - f. Certification that training conducted under this Policy complies with all requirements of the Policy.
5. Records Related to Drug Testing



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

- a. Agreements with collection site facilities, laboratories, MROs, and consortia;
  - b. Names and positions of officials and their role in the employer's alcohol and controlled substance testing program;
  - c. Monthly statistical summaries of urinalysis; and
  - d. The employer's drug testing policy and procedures.
6. Required Period of Retention

Document to be maintained	Period required to be maintained
Alcohol test results indicating a breath alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater	5 Years
Verified positive controlled substance test results	5 Years
Documentation of refusals to submit to required alcohol or controlled substance tests	5 Years
Calibration documentation	5 Years
Records related to the administration of the alcohol and controlled substances testing program, including records of all driver violations	5 Years
Driver evaluations and referrals	5 Years
A copy of each annual calendar year summary	5 Years
Records obtained from previous employers concerning alcohol and drug testing	3 Years
Records related to the alcohol and controlled substances collection process (except calibration of evidential breath testing devices)	2 Years
Records related to negative and	1 Year



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

Document to be maintained	Period required to be maintained
canceled controlled substance test results	
Alcohol test results indicating a breath alcohol concentration less than 0.02	1 Year
Records related to the education and training of breath alcohol technicians, screening test technicians, supervisors, and drivers shall be maintained by the employer while the individual performs the functions which require the training and for two years after ceasing to perform those functions	Indefinite time period

Other specific types of records shall be maintained in accordance with 49 CFR 382.401.

### 7. Location of Records

All required records shall be maintained in accordance with Policy 8320. Records shall be made available for inspection at the Board Offices within two business days after a request has been made by an authorized representative of the FMCSA.

### 8. Annual Calendar Year Summary

The DER shall prepare and maintain an annual calendar year summary of the results of its alcohol and substance abuse testing programs. The summary shall be completed no later than March 15 of each year covering the previous calendar year. The DER upon request of the FMCSA will provide the annual summary to that agency in the required format.

### 9. Employee Information Program



## Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

The Board will provide an employee information program. The DER will be responsible for implementing the program and shall ensure that each employee receives information in the manner specified below:

- a. By receiving a copy of this Policy and any subsequent revisions.
- b. The DER will provide written notice to employees of the following information:
  - (1) The identity of the person designated by the employer to answer employee questions about the materials;
  - (2) Which employees are subject to the alcohol misuse and controlled substance requirements;
  - (3) Explanation of what constitutes a safety-sensitive function, so as to make clear what period of the workday the employee is required to be in compliance;
  - (4) Specific information concerning employee conduct that is prohibited;
  - (5) The circumstances under which an employee will be tested for alcohol and/or controlled substances;
  - (6) The procedures that will be used to test for the presence of alcohol and controlled substances;
  - (7) The requirement that an employee submit to alcohol and controlled substance tests;
  - (8) An explanation of what constitutes a refusal to submit to an alcohol or controlled substance test;
  - (9) The consequences for employees found to have violated the prohibitions of this Policy, including



Commercial Driver's License **Controlled** Substance and Alcohol Use Testing (M)

the immediate removal of the employee from safety-sensitive functions;

- (10) The consequences for employees found to have an alcohol concentration level of 0.02 or greater but less than 0.04; and
- (11) Information concerning the effects of alcohol and controlled substances use on an individual's health, work, and personal life. Signs and symptoms of an alcohol or controlled substances problem, and available methods of intervening when an alcohol or a control substances problem is suspected, including confrontation, referral to any employee assistance program and/or referral to management.]

Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991  
49 CFR 40 et seq.  
49 CFR 382 et seq.  
49 CFR 395.2

Adopted: 23 August 2010  
Revised: 1 April 2019  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019



## School District Issued Student Identification Cards

[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 162 and 218]

### 5517 SCHOOL DISTRICT ISSUED STUDENT IDENTIFICATION CARDS

The Board of Education recognizes school building security measures are important for the safety and welfare of all students, staff, parents, and community members in school buildings. In recognizing this important responsibility, the **Principal or designee** ~~Board may~~ requires all students to carry school district issued identification cards (**Identification Card**). ~~at all times while in school. A student must present the card to any school staff member upon request. Students who fail to have the card in their possession or to produce it when asked to do so may be disciplined.~~

~~An~~ The school district issued Identification Card will be issued to all students in

**Choose one or more of the following:**

- all school buildings,
- elementary schools,
- middle schools,
- high schools.

**The Principal or designee may require a student to present their Identification Card and may be presented for:** ~~at any time during the school day or at any time during a school-sponsored activity on school grounds.~~

- ~~1. Identification at school district activities on school district property other than the school attended by the student;~~
- ~~2. Admission to school dances and other school-related activities;~~
- ~~3. Identification for library media services to include library book, periodical and other resource check-out;~~
- ~~4. Entrance for Scholastic Aptitude Tests, State Standardized Tests and other testing programs administered on school district property;~~
- ~~5. Identification for transportation services offered by the district including the use of activity and/or late buses;~~



## School District Issued Student Identification Cards

- ~~6. Identification for admission to certain school-related and school district sponsored functions; and~~
- ~~7. Other purposes and activities as determined by the Building Principal.~~

Notwithstanding any provision of this Policy, the Principal or designee may also require students carry an Identification Card at any school-sponsored, off-campus activity, including but not limited to, field trips or interscholastic sports programs pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:36-43a. The provisions of this Policy shall not be construed to require a student to carry the Identification Card while participating in an athletic contest or competition, an activity involving fine arts or performing arts, or any other activity that the Commissioner of Education determines does not require the physical possession of an Identification Card. An Identification Card used in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:36-43a shall include, but need not be limited to, the following information: the student's name; an up-to-date photograph; and the current school year.

Any student who fails to have the Identification Card in their possession or fails to present it when required may be denied access to an event or activity and may be subject to appropriate discipline.

An Identification Card issued in accordance with this Policy shall not be considered a government record pursuant to P.L. 1963, c.73 (N.J.S.A. 47:1A-1 et seq.), P.L. 2001, c.404 (N.J.S.A. 47:1A-5), or the common law concerning access to government records.

Students will be issued \_\_\_\_\_ card(s) every \_\_\_\_\_. A replacement fee will be charged, at the cost equal to the reproduction cost, for all lost identification cards.

**N.J.S.A. 18A:36-43**

Adopted: 23 August 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019





[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 190 and 218]

6112 REIMBURSEMENT OF FEDERAL AND OTHER  
GRANT EXPENDITURES

The Cash Management Improvement Act (CMIA) and related Federal regulations require a State to minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds from the United States Treasury and the expenditure of funds for program purposes. This requirement applies to grantees such as the State of New Jersey and their subgrantees, such as a school district. The State of New Jersey and school districts must assure funds have been, or will be, spent within a minimal amount of time after having been drawn from the Federal government.

In accordance with this requirement, the New Jersey Department of Education (NJDOE) has implemented a reimbursement request system of payment. The procedures as outlined in the New Jersey Department of Education Policies and Procedures for Reimbursement of Federal and Other Grant Expenditures shall be followed by school districts in submitting reimbursement requests. Reimbursement requests for entitlement grant awards under **the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) Titles I, II-A, II-D, III, III-Immigrant, IV and V of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB), the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), and the Carl D. Perkins Career and Technical Education Improvement Act of 2006, and any other program designated by the NJDOE** shall be made using the NJDOE's Electronic Web-Enabled Grant (EWEG) System.

Reimbursement requests by the School Business Administrator/Board Secretary or designee shall be made for individual titles and awards using the payment functionality of the EWEG system. ~~Reimbursement requests shall be made for individual titles and awards and~~ **Only one reimbursement request per month may be submitted for an individual title, or award, or subgrant.** Reimbursement requests may only be for expenditures that have already occurred or will occur **within three business days of receipt of funds** ~~by the last calendar day of the month in which the request is made.~~

The submission of a reimbursement request constitutes a certification by the School Business Administrator/Board Secretary that the school district has previously made the appropriate expenditures and/or will make the expenditures **within three business days of receipt of funds** ~~by the last calendar day of the month in which the request is made~~ and that the expenditures are allowable and appropriate to the cost objective(s) of the subgrant. ~~Reimbursement requests must be in accordance with approved grant applications.~~



## Reimbursement of Federal and Other Grant Expenditures(M)

The Superintendent ~~of Schools~~ or designee is responsible for submitting an amendment application to the NJDOE for approval if a new budget category for which no funds were previously budgeted or approved has been created. The Superintendent ~~of Schools~~ or designee is responsible for submitting an amendment application to the NJDOE for approval if cumulative transfers among expenditure categories exceed ten percent of the total award ~~or \$50,000 for IDEA, Perkins, and NCLB (per title); whichever is less.~~ **The Superintendent or designee is responsible for monitoring the cumulative ten percent level of fiscal change.**

**Reimbursement requests must be in accordance with approved grant applications.** A reimbursement request may be submitted at any time after the subgrant has received final NJDOE approval. Reimbursement requests submitted at least ten business days before the end of the month but no later than the fifteenth day of the month will be reviewed and, if approved, processed for payment the first business day of the following month. School districts will normally receive payment by the fifth business day of the month and will be able to track the grant's payment history in EWEG through the payments link of the grant application.

Reimbursement requests must contain a brief description of the expenditures for which reimbursement is being requested. Individual line items need not be detailed. Expenditures must be supported by documentation at the school district level but should not be submitted to the NJDOE with a reimbursement request. The Superintendent ~~of Schools~~ or designee is responsible to maintain supporting documentation for seven years and for making it available to the NJDOE, the United States Department of Education, and/or their authorized representatives upon request. Documentation for salary expenditures is subject to the requirements of the **Federal Uniform Grant Guidance** ~~applicable Federal Office of Management and Budget Circular: A-21, "Cost Principles for Educational Institutions;" A-87, "Cost Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments;" A-122, "Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations;" and Education Department General Administrative Regulations (EDGAR).~~ Documentation for all other expenditures must include evidence that the expenditures are allowable costs and of the relationship of the expenditure to the subgrant's cost objectives.

The NJDOE staff will review reimbursement requests to determine **that if** they meet the subgrant's criteria. When a reimbursement request is approved or denied, the school district will receive an email notification through the EWEG system. Approval of a reimbursement request by NJDOE does not imply



## Reimbursement of Federal and Other Grant Expenditures(M)

approval of the expenditures as allowable or appropriate to the subgrant's cost objectives as the approval of expenditures will continue to be processed through the final report. The School Business Administrator/Board Secretary or designee assumes responsibility for assuring that all funds requested through the EWEG system either have already been expended, or will be expended **within three business days of receipt of funds** according to the requirements of the CMAA.

New Jersey Department of Education Policies and Procedures for Reimbursement of Federal and Other Grant Expenditures – **March 2014** ~~July 2008~~

Adopted: 18 October 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019

DRAFT



[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 190 and 218]

R 6112 REIMBURSEMENT OF FEDERAL AND OTHER  
GRANT EXPENDITURES

The State of New Jersey and school districts must assure certain Federal and other grant funds have been, or will be, spent within a minimal amount of time after having been drawn from the Federal government. In accordance with this requirement, the New Jersey Department of Education (NJDOE) has implemented a reimbursement request system of payment **for grant awards**. The procedures outlined in this Regulation are to be followed by school districts in submitting reimbursement requests. Reimbursement requests for entitlement grant awards under **the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) Titles I, II-A, II-D, III, III Immigrant, IV and V of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB)**, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), ~~and the Carl D. Perkins Career and Technical Education Improvement Act of 2006,~~ **and any other program designated by the NJDOE** shall be made using the NJDOE's Electronic Web-Enabled Grant (EWEG) System.

A. Definitions

1. "Cost objective" means a function, organizational subdivision, contract, grant, or other activity for which cost data are needed and for which costs are incurred.
2. "Grant" means an award of financial assistance by the Federal government to the State of New Jersey, Department of Education or funds NJDOE receives from the State legislature to be awarded to eligible subgrantees.
3. "Grantee" means the State of New Jersey, Department of Education, to which a grant is awarded by the Federal government.
4. "Subgrant" means an award of financial assistance to an eligible subgrantee, in this case, awards by the State of New Jersey, Department of Education to local education agencies or other eligible entities.
5. "Subgrantee" means the local education agency, ~~school district,~~ or other legal entity to which a subgrant is awarded and which is accountable to the State of New Jersey, Department of Education for the use of funds provided.



B. Procedures

1. Functionality

- a. The School Business Administrator/Board Secretary or designee will submit reimbursement requests using the payment functionality of the EWEG system.
- b. The payment functionality ~~is will be~~ enabled upon final NJDOE approval of the subgrant application through the EWEG system.

2. Submission of Reimbursement Requests

- a. The School Business Administrator/Board Secretary or designee will make reimbursement requests for individual titles and awards. Therefore, reimbursement requests for ~~ESSA NCLB~~ will be made for each individual title. Reimbursement requests for IDEA must be made separately for Basic and Preschool as well as for the Perkins Secondary and Perkins Post-Secondary grant funds. Only one reimbursement request per month may be submitted for an individual title, ~~or award,~~ **or subgrant**.
- b. Reimbursement requests may only be for expenditures that have already occurred or will occur **within three business days of receipt of funds** ~~by the last calendar day of the month in which the request is made~~. The following examples are based upon the schedule in Section C. below.
  - (1) The school district has ordered and received supplies and has paid the vendor. The school district may request reimbursement.
  - (2) The school district has ordered and received equipment but has not yet paid the vendor. The school district expects payment to be made on the ~~last day~~ **seventh** of the **following** month, following the monthly Board meeting. The school district may request reimbursement **since the school district will make payment within three business days of receipt of funds**.



## Reimbursement of Federal and Other Grant Expenditures (M)

- (3) The school district makes salary payments on the **first and** ~~fifteenth and last~~ day of each month. In a given month, the school district may request reimbursement for payroll expenditures actually made during the month and for the payroll scheduled for the ~~first last~~ day of the **following month because the school district will make payments for payroll expenditure within three business days of receiving the funds.** The school district may not request reimbursement in anticipation of subsequent pay dates, **that is, those occurring more than three business days after receiving funds** ~~in the following month.~~
- (4) The school district is responsible for payment of health benefits to its provider on a quarterly basis. The subgrantee may request reimbursement prospectively if payment to the provider will be made **within three business days of receipt of funds** ~~during the calendar month in which reimbursement is requested.~~ **If payment to the provider is made at the end of the month; however, the school district must request reimbursement during the month following payment.**
- (5) The school district is responsible for reimbursing the State of New Jersey for pension and social security payments made on behalf of employees paid with Federal funds. For members of the Teachers' Pension and Annuity Fund (TPAF), school districts shall reimburse the State no later than November. The request for reimbursement for pension and social security contributions for members of TPAF should be made at the time the school district will make payment to the State. For members of the Public Employees Retirement System or other State pension systems, the school



## Reimbursement of Federal and Other Grant Expenditures (M)

district should request reimbursement at the time payments are due to the State for pension contributions and to the Internal Revenue Service for Social Security contributions. The school district should not include fringe benefit calculations in their regular salary reimbursement requests.

- c. The submission of a reimbursement request constitutes a certification by the School Business Administrator/Board Secretary that the school district has previously made the appropriate expenditures and/or will make the expenditures **within three business days of receipt of funds** ~~by the last calendar day of the month in which the request is made.~~ The submission of a reimbursement request also constitutes a certification that the expenditures are allowable and appropriate to the cost objective(s) of the subgrant.
- d. Reimbursement requests must be in accordance with approved grant applications.
  - (1) The Superintendent ~~of Schools~~ or designee is responsible for submitting an amendment application to the NJDOE for approval if a new budget category for which no funds were previously budgeted or approved has been created.
  - (2) The Superintendent ~~of Schools~~ or designee is responsible for submitting an amendment application to the NJDOE for approval if cumulative transfers among expenditure categories exceed ten percent of the total award ~~or \$50,000 for IDEA, Perkins, and NCLB (per title), whichever is less.~~ The Superintendent ~~of Schools~~ or designee is responsible for monitoring the cumulative ten percent level of fiscal change.



## C. Processing Timelines

1. Reimbursement requests may be submitted at any time after the subgrant has received final NJDOE approval. No more than one reimbursement request may be submitted per month for any one subgrant. ~~Reimbursement may be made for expenditures that have already occurred or will occur by the last calendar day of the month in which the request is submitted.~~
2. Reimbursement requests submitted at least ten business days before the end of the month but no later than the fifteenth day of the month will be reviewed and, if approved, processed for payment the first business day of the following month. School districts will normally receive payment by the fifth business day of the month and will be able to track the grant's payment history in EWEG through the payments link of the grant application.

## D. Content of Reimbursement Requests

1. Reimbursement requests must contain a brief description of the expenditures for which reimbursement is being requested. Individual line items need not be detailed.
  - a. Example - \$8,750 is being requested in the 100 function code. The description is "salaries and instructional supplies."
2. Expenditures must be supported by documentation at the school district level. This documentation should not be submitted to the NJDOE with a reimbursement request. The Superintendent of Schools or designee is responsible to maintain supporting documentation for seven years and for making it available to the NJDOE, the United States Department of Education, and/or their authorized representatives upon request.
3. Documentation for salary expenditures is subject to the requirements of the **Federal Uniform Grant Guidance** ~~applicable~~ ~~Federal Office of Management and Budget Circular: A-21, "Cost Principles for Educational Institutions;" A-87, "Cost Principles for~~





~~State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments;” A-122, “Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations,” and Education Department General Administrative Regulations (EDGAR).~~ Documentation for all other expenditures must include evidence that the expenditures are allowable costs and of the relationship of the expenditure to the subgrant’s cost objectives.

E. Review and Approval of Reimbursement Requests

1. NJDOE staff will review reimbursement requests to determine ~~that~~ **if** they meet the subgrant’s criteria, including but not limited to the following:
  - a. Adequate description of the expenditures is provided;
  - b. No new budget category has been created; and
  - c. The reimbursement request does not exceed the allowable threshold for an amendment as a result of cumulative transfers among expenditure categories.
2. When a reimbursement request is approved or denied, the school district will receive an email notification through the EWEG system.
3. Approval of a reimbursement request by NJDOE does not imply approval of the expenditures as allowable or appropriate to the subgrant’s cost objectives. Approval of expenditures will continue to be processed through the final report. The School Business Administrator/Board Secretary **or designee** assumes responsibility for assuring that all funds requested through the EWEG system either have already been expended, or will be expended **within three business days of receipt of funds** ~~according to the requirements of the CMIA.~~

Issued: 18 October 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019



[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 96, 214, 217 and 218]

## 7440 SCHOOL DISTRICT SECURITY

The Board of Education believes the buildings and facilities of the school district represent a substantial community investment. The Board directs the development and implementation of a plan for school district security to protect the school community's investment in the school buildings and facilities. **The Board will comply with the security measures required in N.J.S.A. 18A:7G-5.2 for new school construction and for existing school buildings.**

The school district security program will include: maintenance of facilities that are secure against unwelcome intrusion; protection against fire hazards and faulty equipment; and compliance with safe practices in the use of electrical, plumbing, heating, and other school building equipment.

**The Board shall provide to local law enforcement authorities a copy of the current blueprints and maps for all schools and school grounds within the school district or nonpublic school. In the case of a school building located in a municipality in which there is no municipal police department, a copy of the blueprints floorplans and maps shall be provided to an entity designated by the Superintendent of the New Jersey State Police. The Board shall provide revised copies to the applicable law enforcement authorities or designated entities any time that there is a change to the blueprints or maps.**

The Board directs close cooperation of district officials with law enforcement, fire officials, and other emergency agencies.

**Each public elementary and secondary school building shall be equipped with at least one panic alarm for use in a school security emergency pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:41-10 through 13.**

The Superintendent of Schools shall designate a school administrator, or a school employee with expertise in school safety and security, as a School Safety Specialist for the district in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:17-43.3. The School Safety Specialist shall be required to acquire a New Jersey Department of Education School Safety Specialist certification in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:17-43.2. The School Safety Specialist shall also serve as the school district's liaison with local law



enforcement and national, State, and community agencies and organizations in matters of school safety and security.

Access to school buildings and grounds outside the hours school is in session shall be limited to personnel whose employment requires their presence in the facility. An adequate key control system will be established to limit building access to authorized personnel and guard against the potential of intrusion by unauthorized persons who have obtained access improperly.

**In accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:7G-5.2.b.(15), propping open doors to buildings on school grounds is strictly prohibited and students and staff shall not open a door for any individual. All persons seeking entry into the main building shall be directed to the main entrance.**

Building records and funds shall be kept in a safe place and secured as appropriate and necessary.

Protective devices designed to be used as safeguards against illegal entry and vandalism may be installed when appropriate. The Board may approve the employment of school resource officers, school security officers, and/or law enforcement officers in situations in which special risks are involved.

N.J.S.A. **18A:7G-5.2**; 18A:17-43.1; 18A:17-43.2; 18A:17-43.3;  
**18A:41-7.1; 18A:41-10; 18A:41-11; 18A:41-12; 18A:41-13**  
N.J.A.C. **6A:16-1.3; 6A:26-1.2**

Adopted: 23 August 2010  
Revised: 20 February 2018  
Revised: 1 April 2019  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019



[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 96, 214, 217 and 218]

## R 7440 SCHOOL DISTRICT SECURITY

### A. Definitions

“Access” means authorized access to a school building or school grounds through the use of a Board-approved key control system.

“Key control system” means the use of a key, card, code, or any other means to disengage a locking mechanism to provide entry to a school building or school grounds.

**“Panic alarm” means a silent security system signal generated by the manual activation of a device intended to signal a life-threatening or emergency situation requiring a response from law enforcement.**

“School buildings” and “school grounds” means and includes land, portions of land, structures, buildings, and vehicles, when used for the provision of academic or extracurricular programs sponsored by the school district or community provider and structures that support these buildings, such as school district wastewater treatment facilities, generating facilities, and other central service facilities including, but not limited to, kitchens and maintenance shops. “School buildings” and “school grounds” also includes athletic stadiums; swimming pools; any associated structures or related equipment tied to such facilities including, but not limited to, grandstands; night field lights; greenhouses; garages; facilities used for non-instructional or non-educational purposes; and any structure, building, or facility used solely for school administration. “School buildings” and “school grounds” also includes other facilities such as playgrounds; and other recreational places owned by local municipalities, private entities, or other individuals during those times when the school district has exclusive use of a portion of such land in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:16-1.3 and 6A:26-1.2.

### B. Access to School Buildings and School Grounds

1. Access to school buildings and grounds during the school day will be permitted to all students enrolled in the school, all authorized school staff members, and visitors pursuant to Policy and Regulation 9150.



2. Access to school buildings and grounds before and after the school day will be permitted to:
  - a. Members of the Board of Education;
  - b. Administrative and supervisory staff members, teaching staff members, and support staff members assigned to a school building or grounds in the performance of their duties;
  - c. Other school staff members in the performance of their professional responsibilities;
  - d. Students involved in interscholastic athletics, co-curricular or extra-curricular activities, and authorized spectators;
  - e. Members of organizations granted the use of school premises pursuant to Policy and Regulation 7510;
  - f. Police officers, fire fighters, health inspectors, and other agents of Federal, State, and local government in the performance of their official duties;
  - g. Members of the public present to attend a public Board of Education or public school-related function; and
  - h. Others authorized by the Superintendent or designee and/or by Board Policy.
3. All visitors to a school building during a school day will be required to register their presence in the school and comply with the provisions of Policy and Regulation 9150. The school's registration and sign-in procedures may include the use of a school visitor management system requiring the visitor to present acceptable identification to access the school building.
4. Signs will be conspicuously posted to inform visitors of the requirement to register their presence into the building.



C. Key Control System for Access to School Buildings and Facilities

1. School staff members will be provided access to a school building using the school's key control system as follows:
  - a. Teaching staff members and support staff members will be provided access using the school's key control system to the school building and to other facilities on school grounds to which they require access for the performance of their professional duties.
    - (1) The Building Principal will determine the school staff members who shall be provided access to facilities within the school building and on school grounds.
    - (2) The Superintendent or designee will determine the district administrators, supervisors, and other staff members who shall be provided access to facilities within the school building and on school grounds.
2. School staff members provided access to a school building or other facilities on school grounds shall be responsible for ensuring their key control system authorization is not shared with another individual without prior approval of the Principal or designee for school staff members, or the Superintendent or designee for district staff members. Staff members are prohibited from permitting their key control system authorization to be used by another person unless prior approval is obtained from the Principal or designee at the building level and Superintendent or designee at the district level or in the event of an emergency.
3. A staff member's loss of a key, card, or any other device authorizing the staff member access to a school building or a facility on school grounds must be immediately reported to the Principal or Superintendent or designee. The staff member who loses a key, card, or any such access device may be responsible for the replacement cost.



**D. School Building Panic Alarm or Emergency Mechanisms (N.J.S.A. 18A:41-10 through 13)**

- 1. Each public elementary and secondary school building shall be equipped with at least one panic alarm for use in a school security emergency including, but not limited to, a non-fire evacuation, lockdown, or active shooter situation.**
- 2. The alarm shall be directly linked to local law enforcement authorities or, in the case of a school building located in a municipality in which there is no municipal police department, a location designated by the Superintendent of the New Jersey State Police.**
- 3. The alarm shall be capable of immediately transmitting a signal or message to such authorities outlined in D.2. above upon activation.**
- 4. The alarm shall not be audible within the school building.**
- 5. Each panic alarm required under N.J.S.A. 18A:41-11 and Policy and Regulation 7440 shall:**
  - a. Adhere to nationally recognized industry standards, including the standards of the National Fire Protection Association and Underwriters Laboratories; and**
  - b. Be installed solely by a person licensed to engage in the alarm business in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 45:5A-27.**
- 6. The school district may equip its elementary and secondary school buildings with an emergency mechanism that is an alternative to a panic alarm if the mechanism is approved by the New Jersey Department of Education.**

**E.D. Staff Member Responsibilities**

- 1. Staff members should not bring to school valuable personal items that cannot be in the staff member's personal possession at all times. The Board of Education is not responsible for a staff member's personal possession in the event the item is lost, stolen, misplaced, damaged, or destroyed.**



2. In the event a staff member observes a student has a valuable item in school, the staff member will report it to the Principal or designee. A valuable item may include, but is not limited to, an unusually large amount of money, expensive jewelry or electronic equipment, or any item that is determined by the Principal or designee to be valuable to a student based on the student's age.
  - a. The Principal or designee may contact the student's parent and request the parent come to school to retrieve the valuable item;
  - b. The Principal or designee may secure the valuable item and return it to the student at the end of the school day and inform the student and the parent not to bring the valuable item to school in the future; or
  - c. The Principal or designee will permit the student to maintain the valuable item and inform the student and the parent not to bring the valuable item to school in the future.
  - d. The Board of Education is not responsible for a student's personal possession in the event the item is lost, stolen, misplaced, damaged, or destroyed when in the possession of the student.
3. Teaching staff members shall close classroom windows and shut and lock classroom doors when leaving at the end of the school day; shut and lock classroom doors during the school day when the room is not going to be in use after their assignment, and report immediately to the Principal or designee any evidence of tampering or theft.
4. Custodians shall, at the end of the work day, conduct a security check of the building to make certain that all windows are closed and all office, classroom, and building doors are shut and locked, except as such doors may be required to be open for persons with access.





5. Office personnel shall take all reasonable precautions to ensure the security of all school and district records and documents against unauthorized access, deterioration, and destruction.

**FE.** School Safety Specialist

1. The Superintendent of Schools shall designate a school administrator, or a school employee with expertise in school safety and security, as a School Safety Specialist for the district in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:17-43.3.
2. The School Safety Specialist shall:
  - a. Be responsible for the supervision and oversight for all school safety and security personnel, policies, and procedures in the school district;
  - b. Ensure that these policies and procedures are in compliance with State law and regulations; and
  - c. Provide the necessary training and resources to school district staff in matters relating to school safety and security.
3. The School Safety Specialist shall also serve as the school district's liaison with law enforcement and national, State, and community agencies and organizations in matters of school safety and security.
4. The School Safety Specialist shall be required to acquire a New Jersey Department of Education School Safety Specialist Certification in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:17-43.2.

**GF.** Summoning Law Enforcement Authorities

1. Law enforcement authorities will be summoned promptly whenever evidence is discovered that indicates: a crime has been committed on school premises or in the course of staff or student transportation to or from school; a break and entry may have occurred on school grounds; a deadly weapon is on school premises; a breach of the peace has occurred on school premises; for any reason required in the Memorandum of Understanding



between the Board of Education and Law Enforcement and in accordance with Policy and Regulation 9320; or for any other reason there is concern about the health, safety, and welfare of persons on school grounds or school property.

2. **Anytime** ~~A call to~~ law enforcement agents **are summoned in accordance with G.1. above,** ~~will be reported to the Superintendent~~ **will be notified** as soon as possible, ~~along with the reason(s) for which the call was made and the outcome of the incident.~~

Issued: 23 August 2010  
Revised: 20 February 2018  
Revised: 1 April 2019  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019



[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 106, 109, 125, 140, 149, 156 and 218]

## 8600 STUDENT TRANSPORTATION

The Board of Education shall transport eligible students to and from school and school related activities in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 et seq., N.J.A.C. 6A:27-1 et seq., and Board policy. Transportation shall be provided only to eligible public and nonpublic (~~and charter, if applicable~~) school students, authorized school staff members, and adults serving as approved chaperones.

**Nonpublic school transportation or aid in lieu of transportation shall be provided for resident students in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 et seq. and N.J.A.C. 6A:27-2.1 et seq.**

**Charter or renaissance school transportation or aid in lieu of transportation shall be provided for resident students in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 et seq. and N.J.A.C. 6A:27-3.1 et seq.**

The Board ~~will~~ **may** transport students certified by a physician as temporarily disabled regardless of the distance between their home and school.]

~~The Board will transport disabled students in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:46-1 et seq. and Policy No. 8670.~~

**Students with special needs shall be provided transportation in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 et seq., and with their Individualized Education Program (IEP) pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:27-5.1.**

The Board will approve all bus routes by \_\_\_\_\_ of each school year. Bus routes for all non-remote students who must walk to and from school along hazardous routes will be designated **and approved by the Board**. The Board **may** ~~will~~ consider, but shall not be limited to, the criteria outlined in N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1.5 in determining "Hazardous Routes."

The Board will not be responsible for the transportation of nonresident students to or from school, except that transportation to and from school will be provided for **homeless students; students residing in group homes; students residing in resource family homes; and students residing in shared custody homes pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:27-6.2, 6.3, 6.4, and 6.5** ~~children for whom the district~~



is determined to be the district of residence and for homeless children enrolled in this district when no district of residence has been determined.

The Board will transport resident children who attend a nonpublic or charter school in the State of New Jersey not more than twenty miles from their residence, but not a lesser distance from their residence than that required for the transportation of students enrolled in the schools of this district. Pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:27-2.2, students living more than twenty miles from their nonpublic school are eligible for transportation services when other students living within the district, whose residence is less than twenty miles from school, are transported to the same nonpublic school.

### Optional

~~{Only required for any school district located in a county of the third class with a population of not less than 80,000 and not more than 120,000. A third class county is defined as a county that does not border the Atlantic Ocean and has a population between 50,000 and 200,000.~~

~~Transportation services will be provided in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:27-2.2(c)12, and this Policy to a nonpublic school located outside the State not more than twenty miles from the student's home.]~~

~~Aid in lieu of transportation will be provided to a parent(s) or legal guardian(s) of nonpublic and charter students pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1. When the schools of this district are closed for inclement weather or other conditions, no transportation will be provided for students enrolled in any public, nonpublic, and/or charter school, **and/or renaissance school.**~~

~~When the Board provides transportation of students to and from:~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_ county vocational schools and/or~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_ schools classified pursuant to Chapter 46 of N.J.S.A. 18A of the New Jersey Statutes  
and/or~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_ when the Board has in the prior year provided payments in lieu of transportation for any nonpublic schools pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 or the Board cannot provide transportation in the ensuing school year~~



~~The Board shall will utilize \_\_\_\_\_ for providing cooperative/coordinated transportation services in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-11.1 et seq. and N.J.A.C. 6A:27-10.1 et seq. The Board shall utilize will attempt to use one of the agencies prior to determining to pay aid in lieu of transportation if in the prior year payments in lieu of transportation were provided. The Board will provide to the cooperative/coordinated transportation services \_\_\_\_\_ any unique limitations or restrictions of the required transportation.~~

~~When the costs to provide transportation in cooperation with \_\_\_\_\_ is less than the aid in lieu of payments, the Board will contract with the \_\_\_\_\_ to provide transportation. The Board will make the determination on the manner in which transportation services shall be provided in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-11.1 and shall notify the nonpublic school and the parent(s) or legal guardian(s) of the nonpublic school by August 1 prior to the beginning of the school year.~~

~~Transportation in cooperation with \_\_\_\_\_ will not be required when the district can provide transportation at a lower cost than the \_\_\_\_\_ or the transportation provided by \_\_\_\_\_ does not fall within the policies of the Board regarding length of ride and assignment of students to a route based on student age or classification.~~

~~Vehicles used to transport students to and from school or school related activities shall meet standards, registration, and inspection requirements of the New Jersey Departments of Education (NJDOE), and the New Jersey Motor Vehicle Commission (NJMVC), Transportation and any applicable Federal regulations. The operation and fiscal management of the district's transportation system shall be conducted in strict accordance with rules of the New Jersey State Board of Education and the NJDOE Department of Education Policy and Procedures Manual for Pupil Transportation.~~

~~In addition to the provisions of any State law, rule, or regulation containing more stringent requirements, provided that those requirements are compatible with Federal law, and notwithstanding the provisions of any State law, rule, or regulation to the contrary, school bus operations in the State shall comply with the requirements outlined in N.J.S.A. 39:3B-27.~~

~~N.J.S.A. 18A:18A-1 et seq.; 18A:39-1 et seq.; 18A:39-11.1 et seq.  
N.J.S.A. 27:15-16~~



N.J.S.A. 39:3B-1 et seq.; **39:3B-2.1; 39:3B-10; 39:3B-27**  
N.J.A.C. 6A:27-1.1 et seq.; 6A:27-2.1 et seq.; 6A:27-3.1 et seq.;  
**6A:27-4.1 et seq.; 6A:27-5.1; 6A:27-6.2 through 6.5;**  
**6A:27-7.1 et seq.; 6A:27-9.1 et seq.; 6A:27-10.1 et seq.;**  
**6A:27-11.1 et seq.; 6A:27-12.1 et seq.**

Adopted: 23 August 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019

DRAFT



[See POLICY ALERT No. 149, 156, and 218]

## R 8600 STUDENT TRANSPORTATION

### General Requirements - Students Remote From School

A. The Board will transport:

1. Students who reside remote, as defined in N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1. and N.J.A.C. 6A:27-1.24(a)1. and (a)2., from their assigned district school of attendance;
2. Nonpublic school students who reside remote from their school of attendance and meet the eligibility criteria of N.J.A.C. 6A:27-2.1 et seq.2;
3. Charter school **or renaissance school** students pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:27-3.1 et seq.;
4. **Students with special needs shall be provided transportation in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 et seq. and with their Individualized Education Program (IEP) pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:27-5.1** ~~Special education students who reside remote from their assigned school and students who require transportation services in accordance with their Individualized Educational Program (IEP);~~
5. School choice students pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:27-4.1 et seq.;  
**and**
6. **Special population** students pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:27-6.2 through 6.5.

~~{Only required for districts located in a county of the third class with a population of not less than 80,000 and not more than 120,000. A third class county is defined as a county that does not border the Atlantic Ocean and has a population between 50,000 and 200,000.~~

~~DE. Transportation services will be provided in accordance with this N.J.A.C. 6A:27-2.2(c)12. to a nonpublic school located outside the State not more than twenty miles from the student's home.]~~



## Optional

### ~~[Non-Remote Courtesy Transportation]~~

~~The Board will provide transportation to and from school for public school students less than remote from their school in grades \_\_\_\_\_ who live more than \_\_\_\_\_ miles from the school they attend and in grades \_\_\_\_\_ who live more than \_\_\_\_\_ miles from the school they attend.~~

~~[Only required for school districts that provide less than remote/courtesy busing services for students who must walk to and from school on a hazardous route.]~~

### Hazardous Routes

~~The Board will approve all bus routes by \_\_\_\_\_ of each school year. Those bus routes for all non-remote students who must walk to and from school along hazardous routes will be designated and approved by the Board. The Board will approve a list of hazardous routes in the district requiring the courtesy busing of students and the criteria used in designating the hazardous routes. In adopting Policy and Regulation 8600 and the list of hazardous routes, tThe Board will may consider, but shall not be limited to, the criteria outlined in N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1.5 in determining "Hazardous Routes" as follows:~~

- ~~1. \_\_\_\_\_ Population density;~~
- ~~2. \_\_\_\_\_ Traffic volume;~~
- ~~3. \_\_\_\_\_ Average vehicle velocity;~~
- ~~4. \_\_\_\_\_ Existence or absence of sufficient sidewalk space;~~
- ~~5. \_\_\_\_\_ Roads and highways that are winding or have blind curves;~~
- ~~6. \_\_\_\_\_ Roads and highways with steep inclines and declines;~~
- ~~7. \_\_\_\_\_ Drop-offs that are in close proximity to a sidewalk;~~
- ~~8. \_\_\_\_\_ Bridges or overpasses that must be crossed to reach the school;~~
- ~~9. \_\_\_\_\_ Train tracks or trestles that must be crossed to reach the school;~~  
~~and~~





10. ~~Busy roads or highways that must be crossed to reach the school.~~

~~A school district shall work in conjunction with municipal officials in determining the criteria necessary for the designation of a hazardous route.}~~

#### ~~Charter School Transportation~~

A. ~~The Board will provide transportation or aid in lieu of transportation to charter school students pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1.~~

B. ~~The Board is responsible for to and from charter school transportation for the students that reside within the district.~~

C. ~~Students residing within the district that live less than remote from the charter school are eligible for transportation in accordance with the school district's policies for public school students.~~

D. ~~Students who reside in the district or region of residence in which the charter school is located shall be provided with transportation in the same manner as transportation is provided to other public school students residing in the district and in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 and N.J.A.C. 6A:27-3.1.~~

E. ~~The expenditure for charter school student transportation who reside outside of the district or region of residence in which the charter school is located is limited to the annual nonpublic maximum expenditure per student in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1.~~

F. ~~When the schools of this district are closed for inclement weather or other conditions, no transportation will be provided for students enrolled in any other public school, charter school, and/or nonpublic school.~~

#### ~~{Optional for Districts that Provide Subscription Busing~~

##### ~~Subscription Busing~~

~~Subscription busing shall be provided in accordance with Policy and Regulation No. 8611.}~~



## Cooperative/Coordinated Transportation Services

- A. ~~The Board shall~~ **may utilize cooperative/coordinated transportation services in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-11.1 et seq. and N.J.A.C 6A:27-10.1 et seq.**

~~When the Board provides transportation of students to and from the county vocational schools and/or students classified pursuant to Chapter 46 of N.J.S.A. 18A of the New Jersey Statutes and/or when the Board has in the prior year provided payments in lieu of transportation for any nonpublic schools pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 or the Board cannot provide transportation in the ensuing school year the Board will utilize \_\_\_\_\_ for providing cooperative transportation services in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-11.1.~~

- B. ~~The Board will attempt to use the cooperative services provided by \_\_\_\_\_ prior to determining to pay aid in lieu of transportation.~~

- C. ~~The Board will provide \_\_\_\_\_ with any unique limitations or restrictions of the required transportation. When the costs to provide transportation by one of the agencies is less than the aid in lieu of payments, the Board will contract with the agency to provide transportation.~~

- D. ~~The Board will make the determination on the manner in which transportation services shall be provided in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-11.1 and shall notify the nonpublic school and the parent(s) or legal guardian(s) of the nonpublic school by August 1 prior to the beginning of the school year.~~

- E. ~~Transportation by one of these agencies will not be required when the local district can provide transportation at a lower cost than the \_\_\_\_\_ or the transportation provided by \_\_\_\_\_ does not fall within the policies of the Board regarding length of ride and assignment of students to a route based on student age or classification.~~

## School Bus Use and Standards

- A. ~~The Board requires that Aall school buses bid or purchased shall be equipped with seat belts in accordance with the requirements of N.J.S.A. 39:3B-10 – School Bus Safety Equipment.~~



- B. School bus drivers and all school bus passengers shall be required to wear seat belts when transported in school buses so equipped. Seat belts shall be fastened when the driver and passengers board the vehicle and they shall be kept fastened at all times while on board the vehicle. Seat belts may be unfastened only when the individual is departing the vehicle. The Board further requires that drivers and passengers using private vehicles to transport students wear seat belts in the same manner.
- C. **There shall be displayed on every bus subject to the provisions of N.J.S.A. 39:3B-1, signs or legends which will, insofar as practicable, inform the driver of any vehicle concerning the duty imposed upon him/her by law with respect to passing a bus, while it is loading or unloading. The signs or legends shall be in a color, form, and design as will meet the requirements prescribed by the State Board of Education.**

**An agency, Board of Education, nonpublic school, or school bus contractor operating a school bus subject to the provisions of N.J.S.A. 39:3B-1 shall display across the rear of the school bus a telephone number, website address, or other identifying information which shall allow the public to report a bus driver's misconduct while operating the school bus to the Board of Education or nonpublic school for which the school bus provides transportation. The lettering shall be of a color that contrasts with the color of the school bus.**

**The Board of Education or nonpublic school shall comply with New Jersey Department of Education (NJDOE) regulations regarding: the appropriate Board of Education or nonpublic school official or designee to address and respond to a complaint of school bus driver misconduct; the appropriate actions which a Board of Education or nonpublic school may take to respond to a complaint of school bus driver misconduct; and the time period during which a Board of Education or nonpublic school may act to respond to a complaint of school bus driver misconduct in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 39:3B-2.1.**

- DC. The Board requires every school bus bid or purchased that is used to transport public, non-public, ~~and/or~~ charter, **and/or renaissance** school students will be equipped with a crossing control arm at the right front



corner of the bus. The arm must open and extend out from the bus at least five feet each time the bus door is opened.

- ED.** School bus purchase, use, and standards must meet Federal and State standards and must be in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:27-7.1 et seq. **and N.J.S.A. 18A:18A-1 et seq. – Public School Contracts Law.**

## Operation and Management of Transportation System

- A. The **Business Administrator or designee** shall
1. Prepare a map of the district on which each bus stop and bus route is indicated or, alternatively, prepare an itinerary of bus routes that may be used in conjunction with a map of the school district;
  2. Prepare and promulgate procedures to be followed in the event of a bus emergency, bus safety, bus driver training and rules governing the conduct of all students transported by the Board in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:27-11.1 **et seq.** and 6A:27-12.1 et seq.;
  3. Maintain such records and make such reports regarding school transportation as are required by the State Board of Education; and
  4. Prepare the specifications for each bus route or contract for which proposals will be sought by the Board in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:27-9.1 et seq.
- B. The operation and fiscal management of the district's transportation system shall be conducted in strict accordance with rules of the State Board of Education and the ~~NJDOE Department of Education Policy and Procedures Manual for Pupil Transportation.~~

Issued: 23 August 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019



[See POLICY MEMO No. 67]  
[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 164, 205, 209, 214 and 218]

## 8630 BUS DRIVER/BUS AIDE RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Education requires all school bus drivers and bus aides employed by the district or employed by a contracted school bus company to be reliable persons of good moral character who possess the qualifications necessary to perform the duties of the position. Anyone driving a school bus used to transport students to and from school and school related activities must meet all requirements of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-17, 18, 19.1, and 20, N.J.A.C. 6A:27-12, and all New Jersey Motor Vehicle Commission (NJMVC) rules governing school bus drivers. All school bus drivers must possess the appropriate license and endorsement(s) to drive a school bus in the State of New Jersey and are subject to all the Federal and State requirements to maintain the appropriate license.

“Employer” for the purposes of this Policy and Regulation means a Board of Education or a contractor that provides student transportation services under contract with the Board of Education. In the event the school district employs school bus drivers and bus aides and/or uses a contractor for transportation services, the “employer” for school district employed school bus drivers and bus aides shall be the Board of Education and the “employer” for contracted school bus drivers and bus aides shall be the contractor that provides student transportation under contract with the Board of Education.

School bus drivers and bus aides shall meet criminal history background check requirements pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:6-7.1(c) and tuberculin testing requirements pursuant to applicable State statutes and administrative codes. School bus drivers and bus aides shall be considered under the Federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) to be school officials who have a legitimate educational interest to parts of a student’s record relating to transportation, without parental consent, as outlined in N.J.A.C. 6A:27-12.1(j)1.

**In addition to the medical examination required of every holder of a special license issued for the transporting of children to and from schools pursuant to N.J.S.A. 39:3-10.1 et seq., any school bus driver who is seventy years of age or older shall annually furnish, to the employer for review by the NJMVC at the NJMVC’s biannual inspection, satisfactory evidence of continuing physical fitness in the form of a medical examination by a licensed medical doctor or licensed osteopathic physician. In addition, any school bus driver**



who is seventy-five years of age or older shall every six months furnish, to the employer for review by the NJMVC at the NJMVC's biannual inspection, satisfactory evidence of continuing physical fitness in the form of a medical examination by a licensed medical doctor or licensed osteopathic physician. In addition, any person applying for a special license and any person who is the holder of a special license for the transporting of children to and from schools, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 et seq., shall comply with the provisions of Section 2 of N.J.S.A. 39:3-10.1a and Section 6 of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.1. The Chief Administrator of the NJMVC may suspend or revoke a license pursuant to N.J.S.A. 39:3-10.1.

All drivers of buses or other vehicles used by the Board for the transportation of students to and from school shall, in addition to any exam required by law, submit to a medical exam for the presence of alcohol, narcotics, or habit-producing drugs within the scope of the "New Jersey Controlled Dangerous Substances Act," (N.J.S.A. 24:21-1 et seq.).

All drivers of buses or other vehicles used by the Board for the transportation of students to and from school shall, in addition to any exam required by law, submit to a medical exam that includes hearing and visual acuity tests that are in accordance with the provisions of the "Motor Carrier Safety Improvement Act of 1999," 49 U.S.C. § 113.

A Commissioner of Education-developed training program on proper procedures for interacting with students with special needs shall be administered by the employer to all school bus drivers and bus aides in accordance with the requirements of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.2. This training program must be administered in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.3.a. and all school bus drivers and bus aides must file a certification with their employer that the individual has completed the training program within five business days of its completion. The employer shall retain a copy of the certificate for the duration of the individual's employment and shall file a copy of the certification to the New Jersey Department of Education (NJDOE) in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.3.b.

School bus drivers and bus aides shall receive training in the use of a student's educational records and in their responsibility to ensure the privacy of the student and his or her records N.J.A.C. 6A:27-12.1(j)2. In addition, permanent and substitute school bus drivers and bus aides shall be trained for the functions of their positions and in a safety education program as outlined in N.J.A.C. 6A:27-11.1 et seq.



In accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-28, school bus drivers must visually inspect the school bus they are assigned at the end of the transportation route to determine that no student has been left on the bus.

The school bus driver shall be in full charge of the school bus at all times and shall be responsible for maintaining order. The school bus driver will never exclude a student from the school bus, but if unable to manage a student, the school bus driver will report the unmanageable student to the Principal or designee of the school in which the student attends.

The Principal or designee, upon such report from the school bus driver, may assign appropriate discipline. The discipline may include excluding the student from the bus. The student's parent shall provide for the student's transportation to and from school during the time of exclusion.

**Upon notification from the NJDOE that a school bus driver employed by the Board has had his or her bus driver's license suspended or revoked, the Board, within one business day of the notification, shall provide a statement to the NJDOE verifying that the school bus driver no longer operates a school bus for the Board in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.6.**

In the event of an emergency, school bus drivers shall follow procedures established by this Board. School administrators shall organize and conduct emergency exit drills at least twice within the school year for all students who are transported to and from school. All other students shall receive school bus evacuation instruction at least once per year. School bus drivers and bus aides shall participate in the emergency exit drills, which shall be conducted on school property and shall be supervised by the Principal or person assigned to act in a supervisory capacity. Drills shall be documented in the minutes of the Board of Education at the first meeting following completion of the emergency exit drill in accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:27-11.2(d).

In accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.4, a Commissioner-developed student information card shall be completed by a parent of a student with an Individualized Education Plan (IEP), who receives transportation services, when the IEP is developed or amended. Upon receiving consent from the parent, the student information card shall be provided to a school bus driver and bus aide for each student on the bus route to which the school bus driver or bus aide is assigned for whom a student information card has been completed by the parent.



The school bus driver will immediately inform the Principal of the receiving school and the School Business Administrator or designee of the district providing the transportation following an accident that involves injury, death, or property damage. The school bus driver must also complete and file within ten days of the accident the Preliminary School Bus Accident Report prescribed by the Commissioner of Education. In addition to the Preliminary School Bus Accident Report, the driver of a school bus involved in an accident resulting in injury or death of any person, or damage to property of any one person in excess of \$500, shall complete and file within ten days after such accident a motor vehicle accident report in accordance with N.J.S.A. 39:4-130.

School bus drivers are prohibited from using a cellular telephone or other electronic communication device while operating a school bus unless the school bus is parked in a safe area off a highway or in an emergency situation pursuant to N.J.S.A. 39:3B-25. A school bus driver who violates this Policy provision is subject to fines pursuant to N.J.S.A. 39:3B-25.

School bus drivers are responsible for the safety of their students and shall rigorously observe all motor vehicle laws and regulations and State Board of Education rules in the operation of their school bus **pursuant to N.J.S.A. 39:3B-27.**

N.J.S.A. 18A:6-7.1 et seq.; 18A:25-2; 18A:39-17; 18A:39-18;  
18A:39-19.1; 18A:39-19.2; 18A:39-19.3; 18A:39-19.4;  
**18A:39-19.6; 18A:39-28**

**N.J.S.A. 39:3-10.1 et seq.**

N.J.S.A. 39:3B-25; **39:3B-27**

N.J.A.C. 6A:27-11.1 et seq.; 6A:27-12.1 et seq.

Adopted: 23 August 2010

Revised: 22 August 2016

Revised: 20 February 2018

DRAFT: 14 October 2019





[See POLICY ALERT Nos. 164, 205, 209, 214 and 218]

## R 8630 EMERGENCY SCHOOL BUS PROCEDURES

### A. Staff Training

1. The **employer shall** ~~Board of Education will~~ administer a safety education program for all permanent and substitute school bus drivers and **school** bus aides that it employs. At a minimum, the training shall include:
  - a. Student management and discipline;
  - b. School bus accident and emergency procedures;
  - c. Conducting school bus emergency exit drills;
  - d. Loading and unloading procedures;
  - e. School bus stop loading zone safety;
  - f. Inspecting the school vehicle for students left on board the bus at the end of a route; and
  - g. The use of student's educational records, including the **employee's** ~~district's~~ responsibility to ensure the privacy of the student and his or her records, if applicable.
2. The **employer shall** ~~Board of Education will~~ administer a safety education program to school bus drivers that includes defensive driving techniques and railroad crossing procedures.
3. **The employer shall administer the safety education program, as set forth in A.1. and 2. above, twice per calendar year to all permanent and substitute school bus drivers and school bus aides it employs in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.1a.**
43. The employer shall be responsible to administer a Commissioner of Education-developed training program on proper procedures for interacting with students with special needs in accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.2 and 18A:39-19.3 for all school bus drivers and school bus aides:



- a. In the case of a school bus driver or aide who is employed prior to the development and availability of the training program, the employer shall administer the training program to the individual no later than one hundred and eighty days after the training program is made available by the Commissioner;
- b. In the case of a school bus driver or aide who is employed after the development and availability of the training program, the employer shall administer the training program to the individual prior to that individual operating a school bus or serving as an aide on a school bus;
- c. In accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.3.b., the employer shall require a school bus driver or school bus aide to file a certification with the employer that the individual has completed the training program required as per N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.2 within five business days of its completion. The employer shall retain a copy of the certification for the duration of the individual's employment, and shall forward a copy of the certification to the **New Jersey** Department of Education (**NJDOE**); and/or
- d. Contractors that provide student transportation services under a contract with the Board of Education shall comply with the requirements of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.2 and 19.3 and N.J.A.C. 6A:27-11.1 et seq.

## B. Emergency Bus Evacuation Drills

1. The Principal or designee of each school shall organize and conduct emergency bus exit drills at least twice **within the each** school year for students who are transported to and from school and all other students shall receive school bus evacuation instruction at least once within the school year.
2. School bus drivers and bus aides shall participate in the emergency exit drills.



3. Bus exit drills will be conducted on school property and shall be supervised by the Principal or by a person assigned to act in a supervisory capacity. The drills will be conducted when weather is conducive to safety and preferably when the bus arrives at school with a full complement of students.
4. The portion of the drill involving the use of the rear emergency door, which requires students to jump from the bus to the ground does need not to be performed by every student and may be demonstrated by others.
5. The school bus driver or supervisor of the drill shall:
  - a. Describe and demonstrate the use of kick-out windows and split-sash windows;
  - b. Describe the location and use of flares, flags, fire ax, and other emergency equipment;
  - c. Give instruction in the opening and closing of front and rear doors, turning off the ignition switch, and setting and releasing the emergency brake;
  - d. Explain that the bus will be evacuated by the front door when the bus is damaged in the rear and by the rear door when the front door is blocked;
  - e. Demonstrate the use of the emergency exit door;
  - f. Instruct students that lunches and books should be left on the bus in the evacuation procedure;
  - g. Encourage older, bigger students to assist younger, smaller students in their exit from the bus;
  - h. Have students leave the bus one row at a time, left and right sides alternating, in a prompt and orderly fashion;



- i. Instruct students to group a safe distance away from the bus and to wait in that place until directed by the driver, a police officer, or other adult in authority;
    - j. Tolerate no student misbehavior in the conduct of the drill; the failure of any student to follow directions must be reported to the Principal; and
    - k. Provide any other training **required by Federal and State law or as deemed appropriate by the Board** that will protect the safety of the students in the event the bus needs to be exited due to an emergency.
  6. In accordance with the provisions of N.J.A.C. 6A:27-11.2(d), emergency bus evacuation drills shall be documented in the minutes of the Board at the first meeting following completion of the emergency exit drill. The minutes shall include, but are not limited to, the following:
    - a. The date of the drill;
    - b. The time the drill was conducted;
    - c. The school name;
    - d. The location of the drill;
    - e. The route number(s) included in the drill; and
    - f. The name of the Principal or assigned person(s) who supervised the drill.
- C. Additional Precautions
  1. School bus drivers may, depending on the age of the students on a bus route, discuss with the students additional safety precautions that may be taken in the event of a bus emergency. The safety precautions to be discussed shall be approved by the **Superintendent or designee ~~Supervisor~~ or ~~Principal~~**.



# REGULATION

FORT LEE  
**BOARD OF EDUCATION**

OPERATIONS  
R 8630/Page 5 of 12  
Emergency School Bus Procedures (M)

2. In accordance with the provisions of N.J.S.A. 18A:39-19.4, the Commissioner of Education shall develop a student information card that includes information that should be readily available to a school bus driver and school bus aide for the purpose of promoting proper interaction with a student with special needs. The parent of a student with an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) shall complete the student information card when the IEP is developed or amended for a student who receives transportation services.
  - a. Upon receiving consent from a student's parent, the school district shall provide a copy of the completed student information card to a school bus driver and school bus aide for each student on the bus route to which the school bus driver or school bus aide is assigned **for whom a student information card has been completed by the parent.**
3. School bus drivers shall attend training workshops offered by the ~~NJDOE New Jersey Department of Education~~ and this school district and shall be trained in first aid.
4. Each school bus shall be equipped with:
  - a. A list of the students assigned to that bus;
  - b. A basic first aid kit;
  - c. Several emergency notice cards on which are printed the telephone numbers of the appropriate police department, the receiving school, and an emergency medical service and on which is provided a space for writing the location of a disabled school bus and the name of the bus driver;
  - d. Flags or flares or other warning devices; and
  - e. Any other equipment or supplies determined to be included on the school bus by the administration.
5. Each school bus driver shall:
  - a. Inspect his/her bus for possible hazards or safety concerns before driving the bus each day;



- b. Keep aisles and passageways clear at all times;
- c. Maintain student discipline on the bus;
- d. Prohibit the presence of any non-service animal, firearm, ammunition, weapon, explosive, or any other dangerous or illegal material or object on the school bus;
- e. Report promptly to the **Superintendent or designee (Principal, ~~Transportation Supervisor, Other~~)** any potential driving hazard on his/her route, such as construction, road work, etc.;
- f. Report promptly to the **Superintendent or designee (Principal, ~~Transportation Supervisor, Other~~)** any deviation in the bus route or schedule;
- g. Drive within speed limits at all times and exercise extraordinary care in inclement weather;
- h. Know and obey all motor vehicle laws and regulations and State Board of Education regulations;
- i. Not smoke, eat, or drink while in or operating the bus at any time or perform any act or behave in any manner that may impair the safe operation of the school bus;
- j. **Inspect the school vehicle for students left on board the bus at the end of a route** ~~Visually inspect the school bus at the end of each transportation route to determine that no student has been left on the bus;~~ and
- k. Not allow a student on board a school bus unless the bus driver or other employee of the Board or school bus contractor is also on board the bus. This shall not apply when a school bus driver leaves the bus to assist in the boarding or exiting of a disabled student or in the case of an emergency.



## D. General Emergency Rules

1. School bus drivers are responsible for the safety of the students on their bus. In the event of an emergency, school bus drivers must exercise responsible leadership. The safety and well-being of students must be the drivers' paramount consideration. School bus drivers shall stay with their students until another school staff member, law enforcement officer, or a first responder can assume responsibility for the safety of the students.
2. School bus drivers may not leave the school bus when children are aboard except in an emergency and, then, only after they have turned off the engine, removed the ignition key, and safely secured the school bus.
3. A school bus must be evacuated when:
  - a. There is a fire in the engine or any other portion of the bus;
  - b. There is a danger of fire because the bus is near an existing fire or a quantity of gasoline or other highly combustible material and is unable to move away;
  - c. The bus is disabled for any reason and:
    - (1) Its stopping point is in the path of a train or is adjacent to a railroad track;
    - (2) A potential exists for the position of the bus to shift thus endangering students; or
    - (3) The stopping point (e.g., on a hill, curve, or near an obstruction) fails to provide oncoming traffic with at least 300 feet visibility of the bus, thus creating the danger of a collision.
  - d. The risk of remaining in the bus poses a greater safety risk than evacuating the bus.



4. When a school bus is evacuated, students shall leave the bus by the exit(s) and in the manner that affords maximum safety in the circumstances.
  5. Students who have been evacuated from a school bus shall be moved to a safe place and distance from the bus and remain there until the driver or, if the driver is incapacitated, another person in authority has determined that no danger remains or until other alternative safety provisions can be made.
  6. No student shall be allowed to request a ride with a passerby or proceed to walk home or leave the scene without the specific approval of the bus driver, a police officer, or other person in authority.
  7. In the event a school bus is disabled in the course of providing student transportation, the driver, or a responsible person designated by the driver, will notify the **Superintendent or designee (~~Principal of the receiving school, Transportation Supervisor, School Business Administrator/Board Secretary, Other~~)** of the number and location of the bus and the circumstances of the disability. The **Superintendent or designee (~~Principal of the receiving school, Transportation Supervisor, School Business Administrator/Board Secretary, Other~~)** will make arrangements for the safety of the students.
- E. Specific Emergency Situations
1. In the event of an accident or vehicle failure the following procedures will be implemented:
    - a. The school bus driver shall, in person or through a responsible designee, summon the police and emergency medical services, if necessary, and notify the Principal of the receiving school and the School Business Administrator/Board Secretary or designee, of the district providing the transportation.





- b. The school bus driver will attempt to make all students as safe and comfortable as possible. If possible and necessary, the driver will administer emergency first aid to injured students.
  
- c. In the event of an accident with no apparent or actual injuries and when law enforcement officials permit the bus to continue on its route after investigating the accident the school nurse will:
  - (1) If the accident occurred on the way to school or during school hours, examine any student who is feeling or displaying any symptoms of any injuries from the accident when the bus arrives at school; or
  - (2) If the accident occurred on the way home from school, examine any student who is feeling or displaying any symptoms of any injuries from the accident the next school day or if the parent of a student requests the school nurse examine their child the next school day.
  
- d. In the event of an accident where students are injured, a student(s) may be transported to a hospital if it is determined by law enforcement, medical, and/or first aid staff at the accident scene additional medical treatment is required.
  - (1) If the accident occurred on the way to school or during school hours, the school nurse will examine any student not transported to the hospital who is feeling or displaying any symptoms of any injuries from the accident when the bus arrives at school.
  - (2) If the accident occurred on the way home from school, the nurse will examine any student feeling or displaying any symptoms of any injuries from the accident the next school day or if the parent of a student requests the school nurse examine their child the next school day.



- e. If another vehicle(s) is involved, the bus driver will obtain the following information from the driver(s) of that vehicle(s) or from law enforcement officers at the accident scene: driver's name, driver's license number, vehicle owner's name and address, vehicle registration number, owner's insurance company and policy number, and a description of the vehicle (color, make, year, body type).
- f. The following notifications must be provided:
  - (1) The school bus driver must report immediately to the Principal of the receiving school and the School Business Administrator/Board Secretary or designee of the district providing the transportation, any accident that involves an injury, death, or property damage. In addition, the bus driver must complete and file the Preliminary School Bus Accident Report prescribed by the Commissioner of Education.
  - (2) The Principal of the receiving school shall retain a copy of the Report and forward other copies of the Report as prescribed by the ~~NJDOE New Jersey Department of Education~~.
  - (3) In addition, a school bus driver involved in an accident resulting in injury or death of any person, or damage to property of any one person in excess of \$500 shall complete and file within ten days after such accident a Motor Vehicle Accident Report in accordance with N.J.S.A. 39:4-130.
  - (4) The parent of students involved in a school bus accident shall be notified as quickly as possible commensurate with the severity of the accident and injuries, if any, and hospital placement of their child if transported to a hospital by ambulance or by other emergency personnel.



2. In the event the school bus driver is incapacitated, the following procedures will be implemented:
  - a. A school bus driver is incapacitated when he/she is unable to operate the school bus safely or when his/her driving ability is significantly impaired by the driver's physical or mental condition.
  - b. If there is a bus aide on the bus, the bus aide will take steps necessary to have the bus pulled off the road to a safe location and shall contact school officials or emergency services for assistance. If a bus aide is not on the bus, the bus driver shall pull the bus off the road to a safe location and contact school officials or emergency services for assistance.
  - c. The bus shall be stopped, with due consideration for the safety of its passengers, the motor turned off, the ignition key removed, and safely secure the bus.
  - d. The ~~Superintendent or designee Principal of the receiving school, Transportation Supervisor, School Business Administrator/Board Secretary, Other~~ shall immediately arrange for the transportation of the students by substitute driver, substitute bus, or other means.
3. In the event of an injury to a student on the bus, at a bus stop, or along a transportation route, not incurred as the result of a school bus accident, the following procedures will be implemented.
  - a. In the absence of another responsible adult in authority, the school bus driver will take charge of a student who has been injured or disabled on a school bus, at a school bus stop, or along the transportation route traveled by the school bus.
  - b. If necessary, first aid will be administered.



- c. If the student's injury is serious, emergency medical services will be summoned; the school bus driver or a responsible adult appointed by the bus driver will remain with the student until emergency medical help arrives.
- d. If the student's injury is ~~not serious~~, and:
  - (1) Occurs on the way to the school, the school bus driver will deliver the injured student to the school nurse for examination and such treatment or referral as may be required. The school nurse will notify the student's parent;
  - (2) Occurs on the way to the student's home, the school bus driver or another school district staff member will deliver the injured student to his/her parent or to a responsible adult at the student's home or if no one is home the injured student will be transported back to a school district location until a parent or another responsible adult can be contacted. If it is determined the student may need medical treatment and a parent or responsible adult cannot be contacted, the child may be transported to the school physician's office or to the nearest hospital emergency room; or
  - (3) Occurs on the way to or from an extracurricular event, the school bus driver will notify a professional staff member assigned to the activity, who will take charge of the student and notify the student's parent.
- e. The school bus driver will immediately report the incident and any injuries to the Principal or designee of the school in which the student is enrolled.

Issued: 23 August 2010  
Revised: 22 August 2016  
Revised: 20 February 2018  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019



[See POLICY ALERT No. 147, 172 and 218]

8670 TRANSPORTATION OF SPECIAL NEEDS STUDENTS ~~DISABLED~~  
STUDENTS

The Board of Education shall provide transportation services for students with **special needs in accordance with N.J.S.A. 18A:39-1 et seq., N.J.A.C. 6A:27-5.1, disabilities as required by law and with their Individualized Education Program (IEP) dictated by the student's educational needs and physical welfare.** The Board will provide the transportation **in accordance with N.J.A.C. 6A:27-5.1** specified as a related service in the program of special education approved for a disabled student **with special needs pursuant to N.J.A.C. 6A:14-3.9(a)7.** Such transportation will conform to the student's Individualized Education Program (IEP) and the transportation requirements described by the Child Study Team or prescribed by the school physician. **Such transportation services may include, but are not limited to, special transportation equipment, transportation aides, and special arrangements for other assistance to and from school.**

When an out-of-district placement for educational reasons is made, ~~t~~Transportation shall be provided consistent with to a placement outside this district will conform to the school calendar of the receiving school. **A copy of the school calendar shall be submitted to the resident district by May 15 preceding the year in which transportation is required, or at the time of placement if it occurs after May 15.**

The transportation of a disabled student may include such special equipment, transportation aides, and special arrangements for other assistance to and from and in and around the school. When necessary for the student's welfare, the **student's case manager shall** will provide the transportation coordinator or **responsible staff member** and the bus driver with specific information about the student **including safety concerns, mode of communication, and health and behavioral characteristics of a student for whom transportation services are to be provided.**

~~For~~ Students with **special needs** disabilities below the age of five, **shall be transported in vehicles equipped with safety belts or other child restraint systems, in accordance with applicable Federal and State regulations** will be used.



Transportation of Special Needs Students ~~DISABLED PUPILS~~ (M)

The transportation of ~~disabled~~ students **with special needs** to special education programs approved by the Board and located outside the State will conform to guidelines established by the New Jersey State Department of Education pursuant to **N.J.A.C. 6A:27-2.2(c)1**. ~~Such transportation services will be dictated by the student's IEP and approved by the Child Study Team. The individual plan for a disabled student's out of State transportation will be submitted to the Office of the County Superintendent prior to its implementation. In general, transportation of out of State disabled students will be by the most economical and expeditious mode consistent with the student's special needs and will be limited to travel at the beginning and the ending of the school year.~~

State aid will be sought for the services provided in accordance with law and this **P**olicy. The Board directs that appropriate records be maintained and all relevant documentation be preserved in order that the district be properly reimbursed for the costs of transportation.

N.J.S.A. **18A:39-1 et seq.**; 18A:39-2.1; 18A:46-19.6; 18A:46-23  
N.J.A.C. 6A:14-3.9(a)7; **6A:27-2.2**; 6A:27-5.1 ~~et seq.~~

Adopted: 23 August 2010  
Revised: 21 October 2013  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019



## 9210 PARENT ORGANIZATIONS

The Board will encourage the work of a general, voluntary, school-connected organization of parent(s) or legal guardian(s), school staff, and friends of the school in each school. Such organizations may not establish educational policy, participate in the administration of the school, or authorize management and direction of school affairs.

Such organizations shall not use the district's name in their titles without the Board's express consent. Permission to use the district's name does not constitute permission to act as the district's representative. **Parent organizations are independent from the Board of Education. Therefore, parent organizations shall not *make any representations that their organization or activities are sponsored or endorsed by the Board of Education without prior approval of the Board of Education.* A parent organization shall submit a request for sponsorship or endorsement of a specific activity to the Board of Education.**

All fund-raising activities that use the name of the Fort Lee School District or of any Fort Lee school must have prior approval of the Superintendent or his/her designee. The Building Principal shall notify all organizations of this policy.

The Board of Education will encourage and support organizations of parent(s) or legal guardian(s) whose objectives are to promote the educational interests of district pupils. Such parent organizations shall have as their objectives the promotion of pupil welfare; the development of close relationships between the home and the school; and the development between educators and the public of such united efforts as will secure for every pupil in the schools the best kind of educational program possible.

No parent organization may organize pupils or sponsor school activities or solicit moneys in the name of this school district or of any school in the district without approval of the Superintendent or his/her designee.

~~The Board relies upon parent organizations to operate in a manner consistent with public expectations for the schools and reserves the right to withdraw recognition from any parent organization whose actions are inimical to the interests of the pupils of this district.~~ The Board shall make it a practice not to interfere in the internal workings of parent organizations.



Permission to hold regular meetings of such organizations in school facilities will be extended by **the Superintendent or his/her designee for a particular school year.** ~~Parent organizations are independent from the Board of Education. Therefore, parent organizations shall not make any representations that their organization or activities are sponsored or endorsed by the Board of Education without prior approval of the Board of Education. A parent organization shall submit a request for sponsorship or endorsement of a specific activity to the Superintendent or his or her designee.~~ When using district facilities, a facilities application must be submitted and approved prior to the date of the event.

The school Principal or another professional staff member designated by the Principal may serve as adviser to the general parent/teacher organization. All members of the professional staff shall be encouraged to join the organization and to participate in its activities.

The Board relies upon parent organizations to operate in a manner consistent with public expectations for the schools and reserves the right to withdraw recognition from any parent organization, **at will**, whose actions are inimical to the interests of the **school district and the** students of this district.

Adopted: 23 August 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019





## 9400 NEWS MEDIA RELATIONS

Every effort shall be made to assist all communications media in the community to gain complete and adequate coverage of the programs, problems, planning, and activities of the school system.

The Board of Education must give formal approval to all basic practices governing relations between **the** news media and the **school** district and reserves the right to negotiate, on terms most favorable to the district, for the ~~radio~~ broadcasting, ~~televising~~, filming, or sound recording of any school event by an outside agency.

The Superintendent or designee shall be the chief communications representative of the Board. He/she shall be readily available to media representatives and provide media representatives with all appropriate and necessary information.

General releases of interest to the entire district shall be made available to all the media simultaneously. There shall be no exclusive releases, news conferences, or interviews except as media representatives request information on particular programs, plans, or problems.

In general, the Superintendent shall be responsible for establishing relations with news media, and providing information to each through the means found most suitable. Particularly, he/she shall ensure that the media receive all school report cards as required by the administrative code.

The Superintendent and the Board President are the media contacts for district-wide information, public relations and/or issues of major district interest and concern.

1. All staff shall refer questions from the media on these items to the Superintendent.
2. Board members shall refer questions from the media on these items to either the Superintendent or the Board President.

The Building Principals are the media contacts for information on events within a particular school, awards and achievements of **students** ~~pupils~~ and staff as well as invitations to special school events.



1. All staff shall refer questions from the media on these items to the Building Principal.
2. Board members shall refer questions from the media on these items to the Building Principal.

The Superintendent must approve in advance interviews between staff members or **students** ~~pupils~~ and media representatives made on school premises. The Superintendent shall devise procedures to ensure benefit from such presentations.

The Board shall make a periodic review of its relations with the news media.

The Board encourages public presentation of the programs, policies, and progress of the schools through press, radio, and television. Building Principals shall clear proposed presentations with the Superintendent. The Principal shall ensure that the parent(s) or legal guardian(s) of **students** ~~pupils~~ who participate in such presentations are informed. The \_\_\_\_\_ **Superintendent, or designee or Board President** shall be the chief communications representative of the **school district Board**. ~~He/she~~ **The chief communications representative** shall be readily available to: ~~media representatives;~~ provide media representatives with all appropriate and necessary information;; suggest or supply feature articles or stories;; prepare **information to be released to the media;** ~~"press kits,"~~ assist school and parent organizations with **media** ~~press~~ relations;; meet periodically with media representatives;; ~~and~~ protect school personnel from any unnecessary demands on their time by ~~news~~ media representatives; **and provide additional information as appropriate.**

The \_\_\_\_\_ ~~(chief communications representative)~~ **Superintendent or designee** must ~~approve~~ **authorize** in advance interviews between staff members ~~or~~ **students** and media representatives **when the staff member is representing or speaking on behalf of the Board of Education or the school district.**

**A school district staff member not designated by the Superintendent or designee to assist in any of the media responsibilities outlined in this Policy, including speaking to a representative of the media, is not prohibited from doing so on their own behalf as a private citizen provided the staff member does not indicate or imply they represent or are speaking on behalf of the Board of Education or the school district and indicate they are speaking on their own behalf as a private citizen.**



**A staff member who is acting on their own behalf as a private citizen should be cognizant of their obligations to protect the privacy and confidentiality of students and school operations in accordance with Federal and State laws.**

**The Board of Education reserves its right to regulate the exercise of school district staff members' First Amendment rights of the United States Constitution in such situations to the extent that such exercise may interfere with the safe and orderly operation of the schools and the learning environment.**

**The Superintendent or designee must and authorize the release of photographs, video or digital any images.** Taking pictures of district pupils and buildings students for commercial purposes is prohibited without written approval of the Superintendent.

"Commercial purposes" in this context is defined to mean for sale or for use in connection with the advertisement or promotion of goods or services. "Students" in this context means boys and girls enrolled in the school during that part of the day they are at school, on the school grounds, or engaged in any activity under the direction and supervision of the school.

**Any Photographs, video or digital images of a student with a disability of disabled children shall not be disseminated or used in print or media in any way if they are identified as a student with a disability disabled unless permission is granted by the parent(s) or legal guardian(s). Any Photographs, video or digital images of a child children placed in the district by DYFS the New Jersey Department of Children and Families, Division of Child Protection and Permanency shall not be published without permission of the Division Department case worker. Where the release of any a photograph, video or digital images may violate the privacy of a any student or staff member, the Superintendent or designee \_\_\_\_\_ (chief communications representative) must first secure the written permission of the staff member or the student's parent(s) or legal guardian(s).**

Photographs on the District Web Site

Pictures of district pupils students shall not be posted on the web site, except under the following conditions:

1. Prior written permission has been obtained from the student's pupil's parent(s) or legal guardian(s) or from the adult student pupil;
2. Group photographs may identify the group, but not the individuals in the group; and



3. Prior written permission has been obtained from the ~~pupil's~~ **student's** parent(s) or legal guardian(s) or from the adult **student** ~~pupil~~, if the **student** ~~pupil~~ is receiving an award or special recognition.

Adopted: 23 August 2010  
DRAFT: 14 October 2019

DRAFT



## 8611 SUBSCRIPTION BUSING

Limited subscription busing may be offered to students who live two (2) miles or less from Lewis F. Cole Intermediate and Middle Schools. The District's program makes available seats that are not filled on established bus routes. The District shall not be required to add bus stops to accommodate students participating in the subscription busing program.

The Fort Lee Board of Education reserves the right to, with 30 days notification, terminate a subscription busing agreement. This termination would be based upon the recommendation of the Superintendent. Parties affected by termination would be contacted in writing and by telephone.

### Applications

Applications for subscription busing will be submitted on an annual basis. Subscription busing seats shall be for one school year only, terminating on the last day of school each year.

### Lottery

It is possible that there will be a higher demand for seats than the number of seats actually available. If the number of interested students exceeds available seats, a random lottery will be conducted to assign students to those available seats. A student who is not awarded a seat will be placed on a waiting list. If seats become available during the school year, students from the waiting list will be offered the available seats. Once the prorated subscription fee is paid to the District, that student may ride the subscription bus.

### Lottery Preferences

A random lottery drawing will be conducted to firstly assign subscription bus seats to all interested fifth and sixth grade students. If there are remaining available seats, seventh and eighth grade siblings living in the same household of any fifth or sixth grade student awarded a lottery seat will be awarded seats. If there are remaining available seats, a random lottery drawing will be conducted to assign subscription bus seats to all other interested seventh and eighth grade students. Lottery preferences may be adjusted by the Board of Education based upon District needs.



## Costs

The nonrefundable subscription busing fee will be determined by the Superintendent or his designee on a yearly basis. The cost for subscription busing for the school year is per student for two-way transportation. There is no option of paying for one-way transportation. Parents with a second child on the subscription bus will be charged 50% of the full price for the second child. Parents with a third child on the subscription bus will be charged 25% of the full price for the third child.

## Financial Hardship

Students who qualify for free or reduced priced meals and are awarded a subscription busing seat through the lottery are eligible to participate at no cost or at 25% of the cost. This only applies if the student is awarded a seat through the lottery.

Adopted:

DRAFT: 14 October 2019

